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Monday, May 7, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:43 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we'll get started now.  This is the technical conference for EB-2017-0182, which is NextBridge's leave to construct the east-west tie transmission line in northwestern Ontario.  My name is Lauren Murray.  I'm OEB -- I'm counsel to OEB staff.  And with me today from OEB staff are Nancy Marconi, Michael Lesychyn, Salah Lavee, Zora Crnojacki, and Mark Rozik.

I think it probably makes sense to get started with appearances, and after that I will turn it over to Mr. Cass to introduce his panel.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Good morning.  Fred Cass for NextBridge.  With me on my right is Krista Hughes and on my left is Brian Murphy.  Thank you.

MS. STRACHAN:  Good morning.  My name is Megan Strachan, and I'm counsel to the Métis Nation of Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning.  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel to Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Hydro One Networks Inc., and with me is Andrew Spencer from Hydro One Networks Inc.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you for the introductions.  Mr. Cass, can you please introduce the panel?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I can.  Thank you, Lauren.

So the CVs for all of the witnesses have been filed.  I will just quickly introduce them for the record and then we'll be ready for questions.  I'll start in the front row with the witness closest to me.  This is Erin Whillins, I'm sorry, Whillins, lands and right-of-way specialist from Enbridge.  Next to her is Jennifer Tidmarsh, who is president, transmission Canada, of NextEra Energy Transmission.  Beside Jennifer is Chris Russo, who's a vice-president at Charles River Associates.  Next we have Matt Boykin, who is director of business management at NextEra.  Moving to the back row and starting at the same end where I started with the front row is Allan Gill, director of construction with NextEra.  Next to Allan is Aziz Brott, product engineering lead at NextEra.  Finally, Dan Mayers, director, transmission, engineering, and construction with NextEra.

So the witnesses are ready for questions.  Thank you.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1
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MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  And a rather unusual move.  We usually don't start with accounting matters, but because we only have a couple discrete accounting matters I'm going to turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Rozik, who's going to ask a couple questions about accounting.  Let's get started with OEB staff.
Questions by Mr. Rozik:

MR. ROZIC:  Good morning.  Thanks for letting me lead off.  I really appreciate it.  The first question I have is more of a clarification type question, and it's in regards to the response to Staff IR 17.  Specifically in that response it appears that the applicant is seeking OEB approval or an accounting order from the Board to establish a CWIP account; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ROZIC:  Is the applicant aware that the CWIP account in particular is a generic account?  It actually doesn't require OEB approval?  It's already part of the regulatory GL and available for utilities to use on a generic basis as needed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that question on to Mr. Boykin here on the far end.

MR. BOYKIN:  I was not aware of that.

MR. ROZIC:  It's only the use of the deferral accounts that require an accounting order from the Board, but when it comes to -- so I think in this case approval to transfer costs from your existing deferral account to CWIP is required, but to establish a CWIP account there is no accounting order from the Board required, so I just wanted to clarify that, because it appeared that that's what the applicant was seeking.

MR. BOYKIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  That's good to hear.  Thank you for that.  I think our concern was simply that this particular applicant has never had a rate case, and so we wanted to be sure that there was clarity around the account.  But that's useful to hear that.  Thank you.

MR. ROZIC:  Yeah, CWIP accounts are already governed by the Board's Accounting Procedures Handbook, so if you actually refer to it, it will give you more guidance on how that account is used and what's required to use it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

MR. ROZIC:  Continuing on, Staff IR 17, the next question is, is there any potential that the asset in-service date will occur before the applicant comes to the Board for a cost-of-service application?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Boykin?

MR. BOYKIN:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. ROZIC:  In the event that -- so there is no risk that that would occur?  Just trying to determine whether there will be an issue of certain costs that if the asset does go into service before a cost-of-service date how those costs will be captured and brought to the Board for recovery.  For example, when your asset goes into service it will incur depreciation and things like that, for which those amounts would need to reside somewhere in order to get recovery on a go-forward basis?

MR. BOYKIN:  And we haven't completely thought this through, but our intent would be to come in for a revenue-requirement proceeding prior to the asset going in-service.

MR. ROZIC:  Okay.  And one last question, and it deals with Staff IR 20.  In particular, once the development costs are transferred to CWIP, how will NextBridge allocate these costs to the asset in particular after it's built?

MR. BOYKIN:  In a pro rata format.

MR. ROZIC:  Okay.  More so, how do you know what asset category certain development costs will fall into?  Are they being tracked that way, for example, how much will get allocated to towers, how much will get allocated to transmission lines, et cetera.

MR. BOYKIN:  So to the extent the costs were incurred specifically related to one asset versus another they will be directly assigned to that asset.  To the extent that the costs are more in general, I'll call it more of an overhead, so to speak, they cover all assets, and they would be allocated on a pro rata basis.

MR. ROZIC:  Pro rata meaning the portion compared to the total cost?

MR. BOYKIN:  Yes.

MR. ROZIC:  Okay.  That's it for me.  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Lavee:

MR. LAVEE:  Good morning.  I have a few questions with respect to crossing of two First Nation reserves and also the environmental assessment.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. LAVEE:  This is a follow-up on Staff IR number 42, and in this question NextBridge was asked about the status of negotiations and other requirements to have the east-west tie line cross two First Nation reserves.  In its response NextBridge indicates that negotiations are ongoing and that certain permits still need to be obtained.

Have there been any developments in the negotiations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, there have been.  So both First Nations, Michipicoten and Pays Plat, NextBridge is in active negotiations with them for agreements that would allow for the -- it's a 28.2 permit that would cross both reserves.  We've also been speaking to INAC, who -- the Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada, who would be granting those permits, so we've been working with them.

MR. LAVEE:  Are the costs associated with completing negotiations and obtaining permits included in the current construction estimate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they are.

MR. LAVEE:  And what's the timeline for obtaining the permits and completing the negotiations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the negotiations should be completed within the next couple of months, and concurrently there will be a band council resolution, which would then be used to be applied for the INAC 28.2 permits, and we'll have those prior to construction.

MR. LAVEE:  So is it okay to say that NextBridge is able to obtain permission ultimately, or is there any -- still a risk that NextBridge might not be able to obtain permission?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As far as I'm aware, there is no extra risk.  We are working towards getting the permits.

MR. LAVEE:  Okay.  My next question is a follow-up on Staff IR number 43, with regards to environmental assessment.  In this question NextBridge was asked about the status of environmental assessment.

Can you please provide an update as to the current state and status of the environmental assessment?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So the environmental assessment, an amendment was submitted in February of this year.  There was a thirty-day public consultation on that environmental assessment.  So the thirty days as since passed, and there were comments that came in from at least ten First Nations and Métis communities as well, also comments that came in from the government review teams, for example the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry and the Ministry of Transportation.

So NextBridge then addressed those comments and put a package together for the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, and that package is now being prepared to go to Minister for ministerial review.

MR. LAVEE:  Is final approval still expected in final Q4 of 2018?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MR. LAVEE:  What would be the impact on the in-service date if the EA is not approved on the schedule?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think that would have to depend on the extent of it not being approved, how far it pushed out.

MR. LAVEE:  Okay.  I would like to ask a follow-up question on staff IR number 29.  In this question, NextBridge was asked about project risks.

If you could ask -- you go to risk item number 5 in response to staff IR number 29.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. LAVEE:  In this item, NextBridge sets out the risk associated with the environmental permit delays.  And as I understand it from the middle column, there have been increased costs associated with this risk.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it's an estimate of an increase in our contingency costs if necessary.

MR. LAVEE:  Can you please explain what is meant by cost increase in contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  For example, if a permit was not obtained in an appropriate time frame for our construction schedule, there may have to be a construction skip for that one section, in which case we'll have to go back after a period of time when we do have the permit, and that would potentially increase the cost.

MR. LAVEE:  So is this...

MS. TIDMARSH:  Pardon me.

MR. LAVEE:  Is this increased development cost or construction cost?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Construction cost.

MR. LAVEE:  Okay.  I also want to focus on the mitigation plan success column, where it reads:
"Mitigation may be unsuccessful if regulator require more field work and meetings to walk through applications despite early permit submissions."

Are there ongoing risks that more field work will be required?

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge is currently working with the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, and we'll be doing field work this spring and summer, which will feed our permitting that we are working to obtain over the course of the summer.

If the regulators require more field work, which may come in different time frames depending on species investigations, there could be potentially a risk.

MR. LAVEE:  When will NextBridge know if such further work is required?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We are currently working with those regulators to ensure that that doesn't happen, and to date, our conversations have been very successful and those regulators have been integral in designing the field work for the spring and summer.

MR. LAVEE:  What are the impacts that would result from this work, and specifically on the costs and in-service date for the transmission line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, just for clarity, so there'd be impacts of this work, the impacts of additional field work?

MR. LAVEE:  Yes, the mitigation plan.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Depending -- it depends on when that field work -- what type of field work is being asked for.  The project is very seasonal, so if there could be a certain fish species or whatnot that would be, you know, moved to different times, I can't opine on when that extra field work might be asked for.

In fact, it actually may be asked for and completed this year, which would still allow us to get our permits in time for construction.

MR. LAVEE:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, panel.  Once again, my name is Lorne Murray and I am counsel to OEB Staff.  I'm going to be asking you a few questions about the development costs in the EPC contract.

But before we do that, I would like to follow-up on my colleague's earlier question about the crossing of two First Nations.

I understand from the earlier discussion that you have every reason to believe that you'll be able to ultimately come to an agreement with these two First Nations and to cross them, but let's assume for a minute that you don't get that permission, ultimately.

What Staff wants to know is what's the potential impact of that, in terms of had you developed, for example, an alternate route around the two First Nations reserves?  In the event that permission is ultimately not granted, would there be any impacts in terms of the EA if you have to use an alternate route as opposed to going through the reserves?  So I was wondering if you could expand a bit on those questions.

MS. TIDMARSH:  NextBridge has the full support of both of those First Nations, Michipicoten and Pays Plat, is not contemplated to go around those reserves.  The way a permitting process works with the First Nations is generally they seek support first, and the First Nation is the one who applies with the federal government for those types of permits.

And so both First Nations are fully supportive of going through the reserve.

I understand your question to be if they did not allow to go through the reserve, what would the impact be.  There would be -- we still have our schedule to make the 2020 in-service date.  We talked a little bit before in previous questions about if there was a missed permit, how we would have to maybe skip and go back.  That could be a potential here.  However, it would be a function of the federal government as opposed to the First Nations not supporting us going through reserve.

MR. MURRAY:  But if you can't go through reserve, do you have an alternative route around the reserves that you've already kind of staked out, or examined, or investigated?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did investigations in our designation, but since we have not -- because we received support, we did not do investigations from an environmental perspective for routes around those First Nations.

MR. MURRAY:  Would there be any impact in terms of the EA if you were required to go around the reserves as opposed to through the reserves?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There would have to be alternate studies that were done around the reserves.

MR. MURRAY:  Do we have any sense about what the cost implications would be if you were required to go around the reserves, in terms of both the construction costs and in terms of the timelines we're looking at for the in-service date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't opine.  I don't have any idea what that extra cost.  We have not investigated that.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  I would like to move on and talk about development costs, and for this if I can ask you to pull up the additional evidence that was filed on March 14th, and in particular I would like to start a discussion at Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 11, which is the second-last page of the additional evidence that was filed.

If we can go to attachment 11.  As I understand it, this chart sets out the Board-approved amount and the actual development cost that NextBridge has incurred, broken down by various categories.

Just to kind of take a step back, as we all know, in Procedural Order No. 2, the Board indicated that it intends to review NextBridge's development costs as part of this proceeding.

So with that backdrop in mind, I want to make sure Staff understands the evidence that NextBridge relies upon in support of cost claims for development costs.

So for example, if we start with permitting and licensing.  Would you be able to point me to the evidence in the record which NextBridge relies upon to prove the prudency of those expenditures?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe as part of this filing, there were a series of tables at the end that broke out each of the costs and the activities that were associated with each of these costs.

MR. MURRAY:  So it's just those tables that you're relying upon?  I just want to make sure there isn't something else in the record that we're missing.  That's the evidence that you rely upon to support the prudency of those costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't think we have to go through them all.  But in terms of -- if we go to environmental and regulatory approvals, land rights, First Nations and Métis consultation, other consultations, regulatory interconnection studies, and project managements.  It would be fair to say that once again what you're relying upon is those charts to support the prudency of those costs; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, I would like to turn to the bottom part of the chart and talk a bit about the unbudgeted items, and I'm going to start with the First Nations and Métis land acquisition which, as I understand it, the table related to this is one page prior to this in the document, so I think that's attachment 10.  So if we just scroll up one page I think we will see the document.  Scroll up just a little bit further.

So the top, this chart, the top line is First Nation and Métis land acquisition, and it says "category of activity, external consultant services", and there's a description, following description provided:
"External consultant's engagement with Pays Plat and Michipicoten representatives have related to reserve crossings."

The question I have is, it's not clear to me why this is considered an unbudgeted item as opposed to an expense that would be included in the land rights cost category.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So during our designation filing there were some cost categories around First Nations and Métis participation and this one that we did not estimate.  We did not estimate, because we had not actually engaged with those First Nations to determine the extent of participation, economic participation, and the same goes with land acquisition.

And so as you mentioned earlier, talking about, could we in fact go through those reserves, were those communities supportive at all about going through those reserves, and so the development activity that you see here were discussions that we had with those communities to ensure -- to determine if they were supportive of 28.2 permitting.

MR. MURRAY:  And if we turn to the next -- we don't have to scroll back to attachment 11, but the second unbudgeted item is First Nations and Métis participation, which is also listed on this chart here at attachment 15.

And the question I have about this is, it's not clear to me as to the dividing line between First Nation and Métis participation and the costs that are included in, I think attachment 5, which are First Nations and Métis consultation.

And if I could give you an example.  If you look at both charts, so if we go back to chart 15 on attachment 15, if we could just blow it up again.  And under, for example, the internal -- if we can scroll up just a little bit.  If we can go to the first item, internal labour and employee expenses:

"Travel expenses to attend EWT project meetings, including First Nations and Métis community meetings."

I see that description here and that budgeted amount.  I also see those same kind of explanation and description as part of First Nations and Métis consultation and the cost claim.

So I was wondering if you could explain to me the dividing line between those two costs and confirm that there hasn't been any double-counting between the two categories.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So the separation between consultation and participation, so consultation, NextBridge was given the -- delegated the duty to consult by the Crown for 18 communities, First Nations and Métis communities.

And -- as an investigation of their traditional rights to make sure that there were no potential impacts from the project.  And so Staff would go, travel to communities, support communities by providing information about the environmental assessment, activities that we were doing, about their traditional rights.

Participation, on the other hand, is a different set of Staff, a different set of discussions, and more along the lines of negotiations.  So economic participation were things like ensuring that there were jobs and contracting opportunities, that there was equity positions in the project, partnership agreements, so two separate types of activities.

MR. MURRAY:  And were the community meetings about both of those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the community meetings, no, they were different.  So the community meetings, there was the 18, but economic participation is not offered -- has not been offered to all 18.  Not all 18 were interested.  And so there are two separate sets of discussions.

MR. MURRAY:  So now focused on participation, my understanding is participation relates to the negotiation, but if you look under item 1, it seems to suggest that there's travel expenses related to the community meetings included in that amount.  So I'm not understanding, if kind of community meetings fall within the consultation, why you're claiming expenses as part of the participation.  I just -- so once again, I'm just trying to kind of get an understanding of where the dividing line in terms of where are costs here and where are costs there.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if I can use an example, so for example, we could go into individual communities to discuss consultation, their rights, their potential impact on rights.  But then we would also have negotiation sessions with communities, for example, in Thunder Bay for our economic participation.

MR. MURRAY:  And just so I understand it, when we talk -- there's two other ones I want to focus on:  Capacity funding to communities and external legal counsel.  I just want to make sure I have this right.

When we're talking about capacity funding to communities, is that the funds you extend to the First Nations in order for them to be able to negotiate participation rights with you or negotiate or get legal advice -- external legal advice about consultation and requirements?  Is that correct?  Is that what fits within capacity funding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So capacity funding in the participation section of the budget is -- you're right, it's funding that goes to First Nations and Métis communities to support our negotiations.  But it does not have anything to do with consultation.  It only deals with economic participation.

MR. MURRAY:  And then the external legal counsel, that would then be the costs that NextBridge has incurred for those related either in this case participation or the consultation -- the consultation legal expense; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask us to once again go back and turn to attachment 11, and once again I'm focusing still on the unbudgeted items.  I would like to focus on the last one:  Carrying costs, $855,474.

I haven't been able to find anywhere in the records to explain how that was calculated.  So would you be able to provide me an undertaking to kind of show me how you arrived at this number?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can actually turn that over to Mr. Boykin.

MR. BOYKIN:  Can you hear me?  Is it on?

Generally speaking it takes the project cash flows accumulated times the effective interest rate prescribed by the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. MURRAY:  I appreciate kind of the general broad strokes.  I'm just, I'm curious how this number was arrived upon, so it --


MR. BOYKIN:  Yes, we can provide an undertaking on the actual -- sorry, what?  Yes, we can provide an undertaking on the actual calculation --


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

MR. BOYKIN:  -- to arrive at that value.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  And then the last one I want to talk about is the Pic River --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be the first undertaking today, and it's JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION OF CARRYING COSTS.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  And so the last one I want to talk about is the Pic River appeal costs.  And for this I -- identify in the record there's been some discussion of this at IR 22.  So if I could ask that that be pulled up.  Staff IR 22.  If I could ask you to turn to the second page of the documents, and then there's a heading, "Pic River appeal".  If you could scroll down just a little bit.  Perfect.

So in the first sentence under the "Pic River appeal", basically -- you basically -- NextBridge basically explains that a First Nation has filed Divisional Court of Appeal of the designation process, and then starting in the second sentence says:

"The appeal was ordered abandoned in April 2014 on a without costs basis.  Costs incurred by NextBridge in the procedural steps respecting the appeal would be comparable to other regulatory and appellate legal fees."

And while I appreciate it's NextBridge's position that these costs are in line with what other appellate costs would be, they do seem a little high, especially given the fact that the appeal was abandoned before it was heard.

So can you please provide me with some further information as to kind of how these costs were incurred and what they were incurred for?  And perhaps I can give you some examples.  Were there any motions done as part of this appeal that incurred costs?  And, if so, how much were they?  Were any affidavits filed by NextBridge or were there any cross-examinations by NextBridge of other people who filed affidavits?  Did NextBridge prepare and file written factum in this hearing?  And just a general sense of how much was spent on correspondence, preparing for the hearing, written arguments.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I don't have that level of detail to provide.  However, I can undertake to get that level of detail and provide it to you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE COSTS FOR THE PIC RIVER APPEAL, AND AT WHAT STAGE THE APPEAL WAS ABANDONED

MR. MURRAY:  In addition, as part of that undertaking, I was wondering if you could provide me with an indication of when -- at what stage was the appeal abandoned.  Was there oral argument set and have been heard, had written arguments been filed at that point.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Understood.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  If you go back once again to the further evidence in attachment 12, so this would be Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 12.

And the first question I have -- I guess I'm just a little confused by the table.  If you look at February 2015, it seems to suggest there has been a negative spend for the month.  I was wondering if you could explain that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Boykin?

MR. BOYKIN:  That would be an accrual reversal in accounting.  If you over-accrued in one month, it came back larger in the following month, greater than the amount that was either re-accrued or spent that month that created a negative monthly amount.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess the second thing I was hoping --just because I see all the points here, and they're helpful.  But you seem to have all the data points.

Would it be possible to, instead of this graph, get kind of a chart which showed the months and then the amounts that were billed each month?  Can we get that by way of undertaking?  That's something you could do?

MR. BOYKIN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we could.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO EXHIBIT B, TAB 16, SCHEDULE 1, ATTACHMENT 12 SHOWING BILLING BY MONTH

MR. MURRAY:  These numbers are approximate, because I'm looking at the table.  But if I look at the table, by my math it appears that by the August 2014 period, a total of approximately 11.1 million of the 22 million dollar development budget had been spent already on development work.  Subject to check, does that seem about right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We would have to check.

MR. BOYKIN:  Subject to check.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO CONFIRM SPENDING ON DEVELOPMENT WORK BY AUGUST 2014


MR. MURRAY:  And the other number I sort of counted is it appeared by February 2015 -- once again this is subject to check it, appears that about 18 of the $22 million had been spent or about 88 percent of the approved funding.  Does that seem about right?  Subject to check, if the math is wrong?

MS. TIDMARSH:  From the graph, it seems correct.

MR. MURRAY:  I was wondering if we go back to once again the first date, the OPA delay of recommendations.  Can you give us a percentage of the development work that actually had been completed by NextBridge at that point?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't do that calculation off the top of my head.  However, we had intended to be on schedule to file our leave to construct and our environmental assessment.  The delay notification came at the end of 2014, so it would be in early 2015.

So we had ramped-up to ensure that we would be filing our environmental assessment and our leave to construct at that point.

MR. MURRAY:  And would you -- would it also be possible to provide kind of a sense of how much was actually done by the end of February 2015?  So by then, about 80 percent of the budget had been spent.

Is there any way you could kind of give us a sense of how much actual development work had been done by that point?  Is that something you would be able to do?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We could.  We actually -- during our designation, we had come up with a set of milestones for OEB.  So most of those milestones had been completed by that point in time.

But we could include something like that.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you do that by way of undertaking?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Ye, we could.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO DESCRIBE THE PROGRESS OF THE DEVELOPMENT WORK TO END OF FEBRUARY 2015


MR. MURRAY:  Now, I'd like to take a step back.  As I understand it, the Board originally approved the $22.4 million development budget, and that was based upon an 18-month development period, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you either provide me now or by way of undertaking a set of the milestones that NextBridge was expecting to have completed by the end of the-18 month period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can that that in an undertaking.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO DESCRIBE THE MILESTONES NEXTBRIDGE HAD EXPECTED TO HAVE COMPLETED AT THE END OF THE 18-MONTH PERIOD


MR. MURRAY:  The second part of my question is -- so I understand you're going to provide me with what was expected to be completed at the end of the 18 months.  Ultimately, the development period was much longer; I think around 48 months total.  I might be off plus or minus a couple months.

But at the end of that kind of period when you filed in July 2017, can you tell me where you were in terms of those original milestones?  Had you completed all the original milestones that were in the original 18-month period, or were some still outstanding?  Is that something you can provide?

MS. TIDMARSH:  For clarity, I think one of the things that we would do then is in our filing that we did in May 2015, where we outlined all the activities we would be doing before leave to construct, as well as our OEB milestones and all the activities, we would compare that to what was completed when we filed our leave to construct.  Is that acceptable?

MR. MURRAY:  What I really want to know is I want to kind of make sure that we -- I don't want to end up with what I call an apples-to-mangoes situation; I want an apples-to-apples.

So there was an original set of milestones that were based upon the 18 months and 22.4 million.  What I sort of want to be able to compare that against is how much of those -- which of those milestones were actually completed at the end of the 48 months.

I'll give you an example.  In some cases, for example, you may have gone beyond milestones.  So you may have as part of your original development budget phase, for example, said we're going to complete 15 percent of the land acquisitions by the end of 18 months.  Perhaps by the end of 48 months, it was 75 percent, so you've actually gone above and beyond what was originally contemplated in the milestone.

What I sort of want is I want to know what was the original target, where you ultimately ended up, and then sort of the difference.  Is that something you can provide?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. MURRAY:  Once again, going back to my example, to the extent there's a difference -- and this isn't just for land use, but for everything, but I think the land use is a good example.

So to the extent, for example, you anticipated 50 percent of the land purchases and you got 75 percent, if you can provide kind of an estimate of the costs associated with those extra 25 percent, that would be helpful.  Is that something that can also be included?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  In some cases -- I'm sorry, I hesitate because in some cases some of the activities flow through a project, and so they don't start and stop at certain times.

So for example, the land acquisition that you use, the costing over the spread of so many months to reach 75 percent means that we were still doing activities.  We never stopped and started the activities, so it's hard to put a finite amount of time.  But we can attempt do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE A COMPARISON OF ORIGINAL MILESTONES TO ACTUAL, AND ASSOCIATED COSTS.


MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask to go to Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1?  We are once again still on the additional evidence that was filed.

If I could ask we go to page 5 of 11, and scroll down just a little bit -- perfect.

Now, in this section, you talk about the prudency of the costs.  If I can take you to the second paragraph, you talk in particular about internal labour that was used as part of the NextBridge project.  And there's reference to, I think, two internal employees were seconded to the NextBridge project, one in land rights and one in legal.

And the question I have is were these the only two internal or partner-affiliated employees that were seconded or working on the project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think for clarity, what I would say is that our partner organizations, each one of us deploys labour at different rates.  So for example, a lot of team leads work on more than one type of project.

So your question about were they seconded, were they the only two that were seconded, I would say yes, subject to check, those were the only two that were seconded through the project.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps to clarify my question, I wasn't so much emphasizing secondment.  What I'm more interested in --and I think the answer is yes, but were there other internal employees or partner organization employees billing on the NextBridge project during this period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's how we do our project development.  There are no -- for example, Enbridge and Ms. Whillans beside me has more than one project at Enbridge, so she allocates part of her time to work on the NextBridge project.

So we don't per se have 100 percent employees.  We have actual cost time for employees that don't include the full-time costs.

MR. MURRAY:  So I'm hoping that you might be able to provide us kind of a list of all internal employees who worked on the project by job title.

It's like a five-part thing.  So first is list of all internal employees who worked on the project by job title; second, the number of hours each employee billed on the EWT project; third, the total cost of those hours; fourth, a detailed description of what they did; and fifth, an understanding as to which -- into which of the cost categories their kind of billings or their hours were put.  So for example, were their billings ultimately put into the engineering category or the regulatory or project management.  Is that something you guys can provide by way of undertaking?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we could.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.



MS. CRNOJACKI:  Would be Undertaking JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE A LIST OF ALL INTERNAL EMPLOYEES WHO WORKED ON THE PROJECT BY JOB TITLE; (2) THE NUMBER OF HOURS EACH EMPLOYEE BILLED ON THE EWT PROJECT; (3) THE TOTAL COST OF THOSE HOURS; (4) A DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF WHAT THEY DID; (5) AN UNDERSTANDING AS TO WHICH -- INTO WHICH OF THE COST CATEGORIES THEIR KIND OF BILLINGS OR THEIR HOURS WERE PUT, FOR EXAMPLE, WERE THEIR BILLINGS ULTIMATELY PUT INTO THE ENGINEERING CATEGORY OR THE REGULATORY OR PROJECT MANAGEMENT.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, if I could ask to turn to Exhibit B, tab 16, Schedule 1, attachment 1.  And if we can go over to the second page.  And I'm going to talk a little bit about item -- category item number 10, project delay.  And I've seen this on a number of the various kind of charts that have been prepared of the development costs.  And a lot of them list internal time to prepare project delay filing materials.

I was wondering if you could provide a bit more of an explanation of what these costs are and how are they arrived at?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when the project was delayed by the IESO, we were also asked by the OEB to do, you know, a reforecast of our milestones and a reforecast of our development budget.  And we were also -- we also decided -- and you can see by the graph that was included before -- we decided to slow our spend.

And so we did a bottoms-up budgeting approach, where our team leads went and spoke to their consultants, reforecasted their budgets, so that we could reforecast for the OEB our new schedule and our new budget.

MR. MURRAY:  And these are the costs associated with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They are, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And that would be the same for all -- kind of where that item appears in the various categories it would be the cost associated?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know.  If you can point to the --


MR. MURRAY:  So for example, if we were to scroll to the next attachment.  I guess this one is not probably the best example.  If we could scroll to attachment 3.  I think -- we keep going on page 2.  If you look at the bottom there, under item 7, it says "internal time to prepare project delay filing materials."  It would be the same explanation there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it would.

MR. MURRAY:  And my next question actually relates to the next category of activity, which is the Pukaskwa National Park.  And on this it appears that there was $82,464 spent working with interested parties to consult and work with Parks Canada on the potential for going through the Pukaskwa Park.

I was wondering if you could provide more of an explanation as to what was done with this time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sure.  So Pukaskwa Park is the original -- the original east-west tie goes through Pukaskwa Park, and during our designation we had -- we had said that there would be an alternate if we could not go through the federal park.  And so in early 2014 we had discussions, we prepared applications, we prepared our construction plan, submitted it to Pukaskwa Park for -- to seek approval to go through the park.  We also sought approval for studies to determine if it was possible to go through the park.

And so we submitted it in 2014, Pukaskwa Park.  Parks Canada denied our application to go through Pukaskwa Park. Because we knew that a reroute around Pukaskwa Park would be more expensive and be longer, we continued the effort and spoke to -- kept discussions open with Parks Canada and with the federal government, trying to pursue that route, and eventually in 2015 we, as part of our exercise when the project was pushed back, was delayed, we abandoned the pursuit of going through Pukaskwa Park.

MR. MURRAY:  And in any of those discussions were any alternatives raised that could have seen you go through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  In any of those conversations was the idea of using Hydro One's existing right-of-way raised?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was not, no.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you please tell me how much NextBridge spent in total on pursuing the route through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe it's this line item here.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe there's a couple other ones here, but other than the items specifically listing Pukaskwa Park on these charts is there any other kind of expenses baked into engineering or other thing -- or to the extent that there was expenses related to that particular
-- through the park there identified?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the pursuit of Pukaskwa Park, it's all in here, the costs that we spent to pursue going through the park.

MR. MURRAY:  And can I ask that Staff IR 29 be pulled up.  And if we could go to risk item number 2.  And this risk item describes once again the routing through the park, and as I understand it, as we discussed earlier, ultimately you weren't able to successfully go through the national park, and as a result there has been an increase in costs of the construction budget.

Now, the question I have is after receiving the news that you couldn't go through the park, was there ever any discussions between NextBridge and Hydro One about the possibility of using their line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There was not.

MR. MURRAY:  And can you explain to me why there weren't any discussions?  Is there...

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have been in negotiations with Hydro One for quite a few years now, talking about access and use of right-of-way and transmission crossings, and so this was not added to that discussion.  That's all I can say.

MR. MURRAY:  If we could go to Staff IR 23.  And in this question you were asked about the cost management and cost controls that NextBridge has in place.  And I would like to read you from the response:

"The cost management and cost controls used by NextBridge during the development phase of the east-west tie line project involve the management of day-to-day expenditures at the lead project manager's level, lead level, with regular reporting to the project director and to the operations committee that closely monitored any variance from the estimated project budgets."

So just to stop there, would you be able to provide copies of these reports from the lead level to the project managers about cost variances?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we could.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE REPORTS FROM THE LEAD LEVEL TO THE PROJECT MANAGERS ABOUT COST VARIANCES.

MR. MURRAY:  And so going on a couple sentences below:

"During the entire development phase of the project, when the internal financing report was completed as part of either the OEB monthly report or quarterly report, a variance analysis was completed by the project management office for each discipline and variances were asked to be explained."

Can you provide me copies of the variance analysis that were prepared by the project management office during the development period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I could, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  (1) TO PROVIDE COPIES OF THE VARIANCE ANALYSIS THAT WERE PREPARED BY THE PROJECT MANAGEMENT OFFICE DURING THE DEVELOPMENT PERIOD; (2) TO PROVIDE ANY COPIES OF ANY MANAGEMENT APPROVALS FOR THE BUDGET VARIANCES; (3) TO PROVIDE ANY DETAILS OF ANY STEPS THAT WERE TAKEN AS A RESULT OF THESE VARIANCES EITHER TRYING TO CONTAIN COSTS OR USE ALTERNATE KIND OF MEANS.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you also provide any copies of any management approvals for the budget variances?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Would that be the same undertaking or separate?

MR. MURRAY:  We'll keep that in the same undertaking.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  And actually, this can also be added to the same undertaking.  Would you be able to provide any details of any steps that were taken as a result of these variances either trying to contain costs or use alternate kind of means?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I could.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

I would like to now turn over to part D of this response.  So if we just scroll down -- now, we don't have to go back up to it, but in question D NextBridge was asked by Staff whether any refinements were made to the cost control processes that were going to be instituted in the construction phase as opposed to the development phase, and the response that was given is:

"Refinements to cost management strategies during the construction phase will include the engineering and construction project controls, controls department monitoring and overseeing all aspects of the general contractor -- contract in providing input analysis to the PMO."

If we could just stop there, I'm not entirely clear as to what the role will be of the engineering department, so perhaps you could expand in terms of what they will do and what the intended benefit of those functions will be.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would pass this over to Mr. Gill behind me.

MR. GILL:  Good morning.  The project controls department typically -- once we're in construction, the project controls department, working with counterparts with the general contractor, assemble a list of costs incurred to date.  There is always a monthly forecast of timing of expenditures or work to be done.  There is also a few tables or charts relative to progress against plan, so just to measure the number of structures going in versus what the plan was.

So there's a pretty set of detailed reports coming out of the project controls on a monthly basis that not only capture status as to where you are today against the plan, but it also forecasts for the near term, so that if there is a trend that's moving away from the plan, either you're slower than you'd planned or you're ahead of schedule, those types of forecasts would be included and management has an opportunity to take a look at it and get comfortable that it's the right thing do, or if something needs additional attention, that would be the time that we would...

MR. MURRAY:  Are these reports being done right now, or are these going to start once the general construction contract...

MR. GILL:  These typically start once we put shovels in the ground.

MR. MURRAY:  But there's no shovels in the ground at this point, correct?

MR. GILL:  Correct.

MS. MARCONI:  Just a quick clarification.  When you say that there's variance reporting, is it both on timeline and cost?

MR. GILL:  That's correct.

MS. MARCONI:  Thanks.

MR. MURRAY:  But as I understand it, there's no reports of that nature at this point?

MR. GILL:  Not that level of detail.  During the development phase, there is similar monthly and quarterly reporting the team needs to provide along those same lines.  It's a little less dynamic.

Once we get into construction, it's obviously a lot more detailed.  It takes a few more resources to actually track and put those reports together.  So it is still captured; it's just in a little less detail at this time.

MR. MURRAY:  With those development kind of phase reports, would they be similar to the kind of quarterly filings that would already be with the OEB, or would there be any more detail?

MR. GILL:  Subject to check, but they could have a little more detail than what's in there.  But it would be a matter of numbers rolling out to something that makes it into our quarterly report.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can follow-up on the second sentence in part D:
"On an annual basis at a minimum, cashflow forecasting will be completed at the work stream level, which will include a scope of work review to be completed to ensure that any timing or permanent differences in scoping costs are brought forward to the PMO and incorporated into the project decision-making."

Is that the same as what we were discuss discussing here?

MR. GILL:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So my understanding is you have more limited versions of this in the development phase, but they generally reflect what's already been provided to the OEB?

MR. GILL:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent there is significant more detail, I was wondering if you could provide those by way of undertaking.

MR. GILL:  Yes, we can.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Undertaking JT1.11.
UNDWRTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE MORE DETAIL FOR STAFF IR 23 PART D


MR. MURRAY:  I'm almost at the end of my discussion, but I want to talk about one more thing, which is the EPC contract or the contract with Valard.

Perhaps we can start by going to Staff IR 15.  In part B of this IR, NextBridge was asked about steps it has taken to mitigate cost increases.  And if we turn to the bottom of the third page, maybe scroll down a little further so we can get the full response.

I would like to start are reading from the part -- the second last line on page 3.
"For the execution phase, the biggest cost increase risk is construction cost.  A lump sum engineering procurement and construction contract has been executed to minimize the potential construction cost overruns."

Can you flesh out the details in terms of how the lump sum contract works?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's a question for Mr. Gill.

MR. GILL:  More precisely, the contract form is a fixed price sum.  So it's similar to lump sum in that there is a number that reflects the scope.  The difference or the nuance here between a fixed price contract and a lump sum is in a fixed price contract, there may be a subsequent breakdown of that total cost.

In this case, there is a breakdown of that total cost and it's actually broken out into quite a bit of detail around certain aspects of the scope with fixed costs associated.  So to the extent the scope does not change, the contractor is obligated to perform that scope for that price.

So should they run into issues around construction means and methods, or a couple of rainy days, or things of that nature, it's their risk to bear and to find a way to work around it.  It's not a cost that comes back to NextBridge.  It does relieve some of these -- some of the risk of these costs growing in nature.

MR. MURRAY:  If I understand it correctly, it's based upon a certain scope or a certain set of drawings in terms of what's to be done.  And if something changes to those drawings, what happens to the costs?

MR. GILL:  The fixed contract price will be adjusted. Within the contract, there are established rates and options for certain activities.  So it's not a negotiation.  The costs are already embedded in the contract, so the change order would look a little bit like a removal of the scope that's no longer being performed with an addition to the scope that now will be performed, and there will be a net impact to contract price either up or down, depending on the change in scope.  But it has the ability to go both ways.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent there's a change in scope or a change of price -- and let's assume for the minute it's an upward change in price -- is NextBridge's position going to be that ultimately the ratepayer is the one who should pay those costs?

MR. GILL:  Yes.  The intention with the way the contract is formed and the engineering designed is it's a reasonable design and that any changes in that scope would be something to some extent we do control.

So it's not a contractor making a decision that he wants to change scope.  And if we agree it's the prudent thing, or we think that it's a prudent thing and we can make a case for it later on, then we will -- and yes, we would expect that that would be reflected in our rate case.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask you to turn to Staff IR 8.  Now, in answering this question, NextBridge indicates that the construction contract would not be subject to escalation adjustments unless the project is delayed beyond the in-service date at the end of 2020.

Can you expand on what cost implications are if it is delayed beyond 2020?  So for example, if it was delayed six months or a year, what would be the cost implications?

MR. GILL:  Putting a number on that is rather difficult, and the reason for that is because it would depend at what point the delay -- to give you a broader example, if you had a delay rather early in the process, more work would be subject to that delay and therefore it may have more of an impact to cost, as opposed to a delay that happened rather late in the process, just before in-service for example.  There's less work that would be impacted by those costs -- sorry, by that delay.

So it would result in a lesser cost, but it's hard to put a number on that without a specific situation.

MR. MURRAY:  Let's take the worst case scenario.  Let's assume it was delayed at the beginning and everything was delayed, so basically the contract didn't start for another six months or another year.  What impact would that have on the costs?

MR. GILL:  Presumably, a delay say before construction started would shift the schedule.  We would first have to take a look at ways to mitigate for some schedule.  And to the extent that activities are outside of the window of the schedule that's in the contractor's schedule, there are mechanisms for adjusting their costs based on labour rates, for example.

So there is a metric that within the given contract period or in-service date, if activities went beyond that, there is a mechanism to adjust the labour rate for a given activity based on -- and I think in this example and subject to check, in the contract it contemplates references to their local labour agreements, which is the index that we would use.

MR. MURRAY:  Would NextBridge be able -- I think we're sort of going around in circles.  I realize there will be an increase and I realize it would be hard to calculate.  But can you give any sort of ballpark in terms of -- if this matter was delayed 6 month or a year, in terms what the cost implications would be?

MR. GILL:  It's extremely difficult to do, and as I think everyone can appreciate, this also has a seasonal impact to schedule, and it would be difficult to put any sense of numbers around it.  Six months, although it sounds -- it is less than a year, it often has a different impact, because you have moved off-season and certain activities are planned to have been done in given seasons.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess, taking a step back, my understanding is that NextBridge has kind of quantified certain costs that are related to the delay of the start of this project based upon the OPA recommendation, and I think you're using, like, 2.84 for -- or 2.86 for labour and 3 for materials or something to that effect.  Or I may have mixed the two up.

Are those the same sort of rates you would be expecting in terms of, if this thing was delayed a year, or is it something different?

MR. GILL:  It would be in the same ballpark.

MR. MURRAY:  So would it be in the range of 3 percent more if it was delayed a year?  Is that...

MR. GILL:  Yeah, that is possible.  Again, it would be very specific to the condition or what caused the slip and what work was left to be done, but, yes, the 2, 3 percent that you reference is the ballpark.

MR. MURRAY:  It wouldn't be more than that?

MR. GILL:  Unlikely.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

One more question about the contract.  What happens if ultimately -- obviously NextBridge is seeking leave to construct the line here.  Ultimately if the OEB was not to grant it leave to construct, what's the impact in terms of its contract with Valard?  Is there some sort of exit fee or how does that work?

MR. GILL:  No, there is a mechanism for termination of a contract if it came to that.  And basically incurred costs.  The burden of proof would be on the contractor to demonstrate that those costs have been incurred, and there is a termination fee.  It's recovery of their cost, essentially, but there is no premium for a termination of the EPC contract.

MR. MURRAY:  And I don't know the answer to this.  Is that termination fee, is it in the public version of the contract?  I'm not trying to go at anything that isn't, but I just don't know.

MR. GILL:  Subject to check, I don't -- I think the language around the termination clauses are public.

MR. MURRAY:  But is there a certain amount, like, in terms of --


MR. GILL:  No, it's incurred cost that needs to be proved.

MR. MURRAY:  And ultimately if there were costs incurred is that something which NextBridge would be seeking somehow to get reimbursed from the OEB or through this process?

MR. GILL:  I would expect that, I think if the delay such that it's pushed out far enough that we've had to -- that significant of a change that we would be looking for prudent recovery.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask now to go to Staff IR 7.  And in particular I'm asking, not necessarily the IR 7, more the redacted contract, so I think that's attachment 3.  If we could just go to attachment 3, actually.  If we can go to section 2.6.1 of the contract.  I think it's page 19 of the contract, around there.

MR. GILL:  Yes, I'm there.

MR. MURRAY:  Unfortunately our screens are not quite there.  So we're looking for section 2.6.1.  Excellent.

And so the question I have relates to, about halfway down, there is a reference to the work being performed by the contractor for design and engineering responsibility.  And then if you see about maybe four lines from the bottom there is a reference to, for at least 50 years.

And my understanding is that NextBridge was proposing that the design and the engineering for the towers and everything was ultimately for once in a 100-year life event.  So I'm not sure why there's a reference to 50 years there.  Perhaps you could expand?

MR. GILL:  I'll start a response to this, but I will pass it off to our engineers for further response.  But basically this is a design life -- this reference refers to the design life of the project, meaning it's designed for that period of time.  The other reference you've made to within 100 versus a 50-year is a design criteria for a weather event that becomes -- for the structural engineer that becomes their input as to the assumptions they use to design the towers.

So there's two different things.  One is a design criteria for the lifespan of the project versus the 100 versus 50-year is a weather event that establishes the design criteria for the structural analysis.

And I'll pass that off to one of the engineers for any other technical...

MR. BROTT:  I think that's accurate, what Mr. Gill said.  We're talking about just two different things.  One of them is a return period, so the 100-year is a return period for a weather event that the towers are designed to.  And this is referring to the life of the project.  Apples to mangoes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Just the one clarification on that.  Does that include seismic events as well?

MR. BROTT:  Typically we don't design transmission lines to seismic events.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  I have a couple other questions about the contract, but those relate to the private portion, so I'm proposing that we have a brief in camera session with respect to that either just prior to or just after the lunch break, so we'll come back to that, but we're not going to discuss them in the open hearing here.

One final question before I hand it over to my colleagues.  I've reviewed the documents provided in terms of the RFPs.  Are there scoring kind of -- are there various scores for the various bidders?  Are they included somewhere there?  Because I couldn't find them.

MR. GILL:  No, we haven't -- our evaluation is not a scoring type format.  In general terms, the RFP -- once the responses are received an internal team evaluates and breaks it into pieces.  So initially there is an effort to establish that the contractor has bid compliant to the RFP that we have provided.  And you're just making sure essentially that they've answered the RFP in the way that it was required to be answered and they haven't answered their version of it.

Once you've established that the bids in front of you are compliant or you remove one temporarily because it isn't compliant, they often provide a list of exclusions or assumptions.  And this is an area where they may or may not have understood or they had a question around the scope and they've qualified their proposal.

We go through a series of question and answers until we are all on the same page, and to the extent they need to resubmit or alter their price they're allowed to do that, and then it comes down to a price in schedule.  If they're compliant with schedule, it comes down to numbers.  And we're after low bid to the extent they're compliant.

MR. MURRAY:  So there is no kind of like comparison of the various RFPs.  It's ultimately at the end of the day if you think they're compliant and they're going to meet the date you go with the low bid?

MR. GILL:  Basically, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  My turn.  I have a couple questions for you related to the construction cost estimates and risks.  So I first just wanted to -- I guess you can turn up if it's helpful OEB Staff number 10.  So in part C of this response NextBridge states that:

"None of the increases in the leave-to-construct application cost estimate were covered by the construction contingency estimated at the time of designation."

And then in interrogatory -- Staff Interrogatory No.11, NextBridge states that:

"Unforeseeable risks that are unpredictable are not included in the project contingency."

So I'm just hoping that you can give us a better sense as to what type of things are covered by contingency, as opposed to risks that are outside of your contingency and would be incremental to your project budget if they materialized?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can start that response, and then I would add any response extra from Mr. Gill.

So we itemize in Staff IR 10, there's a list of the type of risks -- sorry, there's a table of the types of risks that are part of the project, and those risks are included in our contingency.  And so any unforeseeable risks have a very, very low probability and are not included in project contingency.

So an unforeseeable risk is something that is so small, not a tornado or something seismic, that we would not foresee happening in the project area.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  I guess to better understand that -- so for example, any potential increases to project costs associated with line crossings -- I know you've been working with Hydro One, those not covered by your contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  To the extent that those risks are articulated -- and unfortunately, I don't remember the IR that has the table of risks in it.


MS. MARCONI:  I think 29 has the risks, and 12 talks about your reliance on the line crossings.  I'm not sure which one is helpful to you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in 29, we do discuss our interactions with Hydro One, and so those risks are part of our contingency.

I'll turn it over to Mr. Gill to expand on that.

MR. GILL:  Within the estimate that's reflective of the leave-to-construct application, we have assumed the crossings.  Given where we are with discussions with Hydro One on what those crossings would look like, it's a combination of those discussions, good industry practice, and that has been estimated in there.

Your question went on to tie that to contingency.  So if there is a small deviation as we finish up those discussions with Hydro One and it's something slightly different than what we have anticipated, then yes, it would be covered by our contingency.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  But just to clarify, if it was relocation of the two T1M lines -- for example, as you talk about OEB Staff 12 C, that's not covered by your contingency?

MR. GILL:  No, we have not included that as part of our risks.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Are expropriation costs covered by your contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that on to Ms. Whillans.

MS. WHILLANS:  I can speak to that.  So the expropriation costs, should they be realized, would be included in the regulatory budget in the construction budget as well.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  So it's already in your budget?

MS. WHILLANS:  Yes.

MS. MARCONI:  I know coming back to the two First Nation reserves, and I know you're hopeful that those negotiations will be successful.  But for example, if there were some additional costs to go -- and you had to go around these two reserves, is that covered in your contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's not, no.

MS. MARCONI:  And then, I guess, what about potential changes to your project costs as a result of changing foreign exchange rates?  Is that covered in your contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Gill?

MR. GILL:  Yes, we've taken into account exchange rates relative to the construction costs for the period with an in-service date of 2020.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  I would like to talk about your response to OEB Staff number 1.  I would like to understand what you mean by no detailed construction cost estimates having been prepared between designation and leave-to-construct filing.

So was any level of cost update done?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it was not.

MS. MARCONI:  Did NextBridge have a sense as to whether project costs were escalating?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We -- after the project delay, we focused on the development costs and the development period.  We did not reforecast our construction costs.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  And did your board, NextBridge 's board, want any updated project cost estimates between designation and leave-to-construct filing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They did not.

MS. MARCONI:  Was NextBridge's board surprised by the jump in costs between the December 31, 2016, estimate, which we understand was 397 million, and the 737 million dollar estimate prepared for April 30, 2017?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't opine on whether they were surprised or not.  It was presented to them in a board meeting.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  I guess to clarify, were any of the projected construction cost increases known to NextBridge prior to 2017?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Prior to our reforecast in the spring of 2017 for the information that would go into our leave to construct, we had been spending our development period time putting together our general contractor bidders, the amounts which is, for the most part, bid.  And so we did not reforecast until that spring before we put in our leave-to-construct cost.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  And I guess -- so you didn't have any information essentially about construction cost increases is what you're saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right, until we went to market and got our the information from our RFP process for the general contractors.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  So is it safe to say that you weren't really concerned or worrying about whether the project may or may not be viable as the IESO was continuing to compare it to other alternatives?  This is prior to the order in council.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Prior to the order in council?  I worry all the time.  However, that was not one of the -- the IESO's needs assessment that talked about the cost versus the alternates for generation, we didn't think our costs would be getting close to the costs for the alternates.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm mindful of the time.  Perhaps now is a good time to break, if we could break for fifteen minutes and come back at 11:20?
--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we'll get started now, and I'm going to turn it over back to OEB staff to continue with the questioning.
Questions by Ms. Marconi:


MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Back to Staff number 10.  I'm wondering if you can give us a better understanding of the calculation used to arrive at the roughly $49 million in contingency amount for the project.  You did provide an explanation in part A of number 10, but I guess we're hoping to understand the actual calculations.  Is that possible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Pass that one to Mr. Gill.

MR. GILL:  Calculation for the engineering construction contingency is generally done -- it's on a percentage basis of portions of the engineering scope, so we break it down a little bit into certain aspects of the scope that we have estimated the cost for and then based on the risk and the execution -- sorry, the execution risk and the defined scope for that, we then adjust that percentage up or down until we're comfortable that we've captured risk associated with that element.  And then they're basically compiled into a total contingency dollar that you see here, and in this response I think it was -- there's a percentage that's calculated, but that's more of an after-the-fact total percentage.  We do come up with the contingency and a dollar amount based on a smaller set of percentages against different activities, and then it's combined together.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Thanks.  Has NextBridge used any of its contingency to date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No --


MR. GILL:  We have not.

MS. TIDMARSH:  In unison.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  If we can turn to Staff number 16, please.  So in answer to A, NextBridge sets out its construction costs from July 31st through the end of 2017 as $4.924 million.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. MARCONI:  Great.  And if you turn to question C, I understand that the budget costs through the end of 2017 was $2 million.  Am I reading that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Just a couple questions.  First, we're wondering if you can add a new column to the table in answer to A that breaks out the $2 million estimated cost for this period, if it breaks it -- can you break it down by category?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So just for clarity, so what we've spent in 2017 of the $2 million in construction costs?

MS. MARCONI:  Well, I guess the budget was 2 million, and it's at 4.9.  Is that, first of all, accurate, I guess, my understanding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Okay.  Yeah, no, I understand now.

MS. MARCONI:  Yeah.  And so we're wondering --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. MARCONI:  -- if you could -- we have, obviously, the actual costs.  We're wondering if we can have the table broken down similarly for the budgeted costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

MR. LAVEE:  So that would be Undertaking JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  (1) TO UPDATE THE TABLE AT STAFF 16 PART A TO BREAK DOWN THE $2 MILLION COST BY CATEGORY; (2) TO EXPLAIN INCREASES BEYOND 5 PERCENT; (3) TO PROVIDE ACTUAL AND BUDGET FOR JANUARY 2018 TO APRIL 2018; (4) TO PROVIDE ANY DOCUMENTATION AROUND THE VARIANCE ANALYSIS.

MS. MARCONI:  Maybe as part of that same undertaking, we're wondering if you can provide an explanation as to the reason for any increases that are beyond 5 percent more than what the estimate was.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

Okay.  We're wondering if you can also provide the same type of information, both the actual and the budget, for -- broken down by category again for January 2018 through to the end of April 2018.  That could either be part of that same chart or a new one.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

Okay.  I guess we're also wondering if, either as part of the explanation or in addition, we're wondering if there is either documentation or some information that you can provide around any of the analysis of the variances, specifically discussions between project managers, project directors, or any of the operations committee outlining or describing the cost variances.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

Okay.  Wondering if we can turn to Staff number 14.  So we see that there is a $31 million interest during construction number that you've provided.  And I guess
if -- we're looking for more of an explanation as to how you actually calculated that number.  It may be a simple calculation, but I'm just not sure we have all the information to be able do it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  I'll pass that to Mr. Boykin.

MR. BOYKIN:  I think earlier we committed to providing the calculation for the other figure and the interest during construction.  I think we can provide the same thing for --


MS. MARCONI:  Perfect.

MR. BOYKIN:  -- the $31 million.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

Okay.  So if we can flip to Staff number 26, please.  So in this interrogatory NextBridge was asked to explain factors that led to the increased development and construction costs.  In its answer to part B NextBridge quantifies the total cost for the delay of the in-service date at $70.5 million.  We know that you -- and I guess just from which this $70.5 million is further broken down into, I think it's 13.4 for the development phase and 57.2 for the construction phase.

And I guess we're wondering how you arrived at those numbers.  We know that there's some details in the additional cost information filed by NextBridge, but we're having trouble sort of reconciling the numbers.  It doesn't appear to us that the information provided in the additional cost information in the categories where you have additional delay, doesn't look like it adds up to, for example, the $13.4 million.  Not sure if we're missing something, but wondering if you can either explain or somehow break down those numbers for us?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  We can take that away as an undertaking to back that down, make it clearer.

MR. LAVEE:  That would be Undertaking JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO CLARIFY AND/OR BREAK DOWN THE INCREASED DEVELOPMENT AND CONSTRUCTION COSTS IN STAFF IR 26 PART B.

MR. CASS:  There was an undertaking given about the calculation of the IDC, and I don't think that got a number.  I don't know if you're concerned about that.  It will be answered, of course.

MS. MARCONI:  I think, was it part of another undertaking?  Is that what you had --


MR. CASS:  It can be.

MS. MARCONI:  -- committed?

MR. CASS:  It will be answered.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Thanks, Fred.

MR. LESYCHYN:  If we could turn to the further evidence that was provided in March, page 1, line number 11:

"While the following construction cost descriptions are detailed, they are not exhaustive, and it is not practical to describe all the anticipated construction phase activities in the evidence."

My question is just simple:  Can you please confirm that all the major impacted ones have been taken into account so nothing later is going to come up?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would turn that to Mr. Gill and Mr. Mayers.

MR. GILL:  That is correct.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning to pages 6 and 11, preamble, engineering and construction cost table, can the descriptions provided within the cost categories be separated into those that were -- you originally envisioned versus what is incremental now?  Is that possible?  I notice there's a lot of description there.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's possible.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Can you do that through an undertaking, or --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, sorry.  Yes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  We're just not sure over here whether we understand it, but as long as we're sure we have an understanding of the request.

MS. TIDMARSH:  From my understanding, if you scroll down -- sorry, on the IR -- discussing all the contractor's costs, if there is anything different from what we originally envisioned to what is now in the construction budget, just articulating the difference between the two?  Is that --


MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes?  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Good.  Thank you.

MR. LESYCHYN:  That was on page 1?

MR. GILL:  Let me further clarify, just to clarify that question a bit more, are you referring to any different cost categories?

Obviously, there will be things in each cost category that would have changed, so the number would have changed, but not necessarily the cost category.  Is your question specifically any cost categories that have not been included?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Exactly.

MR. GILL:  Okay.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be JT1.14, and it's an update of the table on page 1 in updated evidence, original versus incremental.  Is that a fair description?
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14: (1) TO UPDATE THE TABLE ON PAGE 1 OF THE UPDATED EVIDENCE, ORIGINAL VERSUS INCREMENTAL; (2) TO SHOW PERCENTAGES OF TOTAL COSTS; (3) TO DO THE SAME FOR THE NON-ENGINEERING CONSTRUCTION COST TABLES


MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.  And a follow-up to that question, can these costs be represented in terms of the percentage of total cost here to get an idea of kind of the relative importance, so how they've changed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I see.  Yes, we can do that, yes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  Turning to pages 1 to 6, non-engineering construction cost tables, it's really the same question that I have.

Can you take a look at what was originally envisioned to what has changed now there?  Can you basically break that down?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Would it be the same undertaking?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Same undertaking.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Number 14?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Same questions.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Number 14 confirmed.

MR. LESYCHYN:  My next question is in developing the risk.  Did you use some sort of methodology?  Did you rely on a methodology, or was it basically based on your past experience with projects and thus, that's how you came up with the percentage for the contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that to Mr. Gill.

MR. GILL:  It was more experience-based as opposed to a prescribed process, yes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So a final question here on this section here.  Has NextBridge's contractor accepted some of the construction cost risks?  If yes, what is the risk level and under what conditions?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Gill?

MR. GILL:  Yes, the construction contract does contemplate the contractor taking on some risk.  Some of the major areas of those risks would include -- they have all subsurface risk.  So part of their scope is do additional geo-technical investigations once clearing starts.

In addition to that, they also have as a part of their scope the design function for the foundations, and their contract is such that for each type of tower and each type of foundation contemplated, there is a fixed price.

So to the extent they run into any underground or subsurface risk, they have the means through their engineering and experience to mitigate those risks as best they can and it's not -- it won't be a cost passed on to...

MR. LESYCHYN:  Would it be fair to say if they had to redesign something midway through, then that cost would not be passed on?   They would bear that cost?

MR. GILL:  Correct, and to add to your question which included under what conditions would that not be the case, to the extent NextBridge had other reasons to change their scope, there's contemplated changes to price that would go with that.

But if we have not changed scope for any owner's reasons, it would be the obligation of contractor to mitigate those impacts that they're subject to live within those costs.  And they do expect there's going to be -- you know, they're going to have some wins and some losses, but their pricing contemplates that.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.

MS. MARCONI:  I wanted to talk about some of the, I guess, procurement of materials and equipment.

So if you turn to OEB Staff number 5, NextBridge concludes its response by saying -- if we could turn that up?  At the very end, you say:
"NextBridge believes that by sourcing materials from well-established suppliers, by following competitive bid processes, and through detailed contract administration oversight, material and equipment savings will be achieved on the east-west tie line."

I wanted to confirm that the material and equipment savings that you expect will be achieved on the east-west tie line are included in these cost estimates that you've filed.  In other words, there is no additional savings that you're expecting to see in the future relative to the current project cost estimate?

MR. GILL:  That is correct.  Those costs are anticipated in the estimate.

MS. MARCONI:  Great.  Moving on to another topic, in your additional evidence, I believe it's the -- it's around page 3 and 4 of the exhibit -- tab 15, schedule 1.

I'm just wondering -- here you talk -- there are some references to your community investment fund, and I'm just wondering if you can tell us what the magnitude of your community investment fund is.


MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't have that number off the top of my head.  I can take an undertaking to get that number for you.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT1.15 and it will be for NextBridge to provide the cost estimate for the community investment fund.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE THE COST ESTIMATE FOR THE COMMUNITY INVESTMENT FUND AND AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL PROJECT COST


MS. MARCONI:  Can you tell us about the type -- I guess what it covers?  My understanding is there are some First Nations and Métis events and groups that you have funded or plan to fund, and that there are some priorities under -- for other communities.  And I guess I'm just wondering sort of what it is that you're planning to fund, and maybe any further explanation about the community investment fund that you can provide.


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the types of activities would be -- for example, this fund of our affiliate partners -- this is Enbridge is running this type of fund and Enbridge has a lot of priorities around safety.  So it would be things like any sort of safety events in communities that talk about transmission lines.  It could be things like -- I know that there's a -- I'm totally giving examples, but there's new criteria for fire fighters, new training.  So the assistance of support by NextBridge so that those fire fighters could be trained in things that were related to transmission.

MS. MARCONI:  So it's really being used to sort of provide additional information and training for...

MS. TIDMARSH:  Municipalities, community groups.

MS. MARCONI:  Related to safety mainly, or other things, too?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There's other things as well.  It would be safety as well as promoting community events. For example, if there was a community event that -- around the United Way event, not a donation per se, but an event around sort of promoting community, that would be the type of thing it would fund.

MS. MARCONI:  And is it included in the 737 million dollar project cost estimate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MS. MARCONI:  Maybe, I guess as part of JT1.15, that undertaking, could you provide us with a percentage of your overall budget in terms of how much the community investment fund is relative to the rest of your project cost?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely, yes.

MS. MARCONI:  We may be able to do that math ourselves, but thank you.  I'm wondering if you can tell me about your advisory committee.  Who were its members and how frequently did you meet?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The Aboriginal Advisory Committee?

MS. MARCONI:  Yes, sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  The Aboriginal Advisory Committee was formed prior to designation.  It also held meetings during the development period.  So the people that were on board, the list of their names in our designation application.

And the real purpose of the board was to inform our strategy and process in working with the 18 communities that we were designated our duty to consult.  So they talked about potential capacity funding needs, really an advisory board on how to approach and work with communities.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  I had a question around your regulatory budget, the budget that is, I guess, your existing budget.  Is your current regulatory budget expected to be sufficient to cover the costs of any additional legal or consulting servers that may have been incurred to date or related to this proceeding, or do you know now that your existing budget may not be sufficient?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Our budget for our regulatory work for this technical conference and for our leave to construct is included in our project cost.

MS. MARCONI:  So would the motion be outside of that budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it would.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  In OEB Staff 22 -- I'm not sure if you need to turn it up, but you talk about, I guess, working -- the First Nation and Métis participation, and you note that -- I guess you used one of OPG's projects as an example.

I guess we're wondering, did NextBridge consider Hydro One's partnerships with Indigenous communities in Ontario when it was looking at partnership and some of those costs, or why or why not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So using Hydro One's relationships, for example, on Bruce to Milton line, with the SON, et cetera?


MS. MARCONI:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We considered -- we looked into that.  However, we couldn't find in the budgets or in any of the materials from the Bruce to Milton hearing that actually quantified the participation costs.  And so this one from OPG we found to have the most public record and the amount of information.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  So given the limited number of examples, how did NextBridge satisfy itself that the costs associated with this category were reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge -- the partner entities, including Enbridge and NextEra and Borealis, do have extensive relationships and experience with working with First Nations and Métis communities, as well as our general contractor Valard also has done quite a lot of work and has an impressive track record of working with First Nations and Métis communities.  And so the costs that we have put forth in our budget for participation reflect those.

MS. MARCONI:  So it was sort of based on your personal -- the partners and Valard's experience, you felt that they were reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  One follow-up question.  Other than the OPG example given in the materials, is there any other examples that you rely upon or point to or considered in arriving at that kind of conclusion that was reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We used experience, although I would say that it was probably confidential experience from what Enbridge has been doing throughout Canada, as well as NextEra's experience throughout Canada as well, when it comes to pricing -- or not pricing, but the extent of participation.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there -- so is there other examples that kind of drove that analysis?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Our own personal experience from what we have done, but I think if you're talking for external examples or other projects outside of the partners' experience...

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I'm interested.  You said that it's based upon your internal experience in terms of NextEra and Enbridge and kind of their experience in dealing with these issues, I assume in other provinces.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  I'm just wondering if there are any other examples in those other provinces which were considered and, if so, can you kind of provide more details of those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We are ware of other examples and we have looked into them, and I can provide more information in an undertaking if that's what you're looking for.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, that would be helpful.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Good.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking JT1.16, and to provide examples of experience in other provinces that NextBridge used to compare the cost or to -- for the Indigenous consultation.  Is that a good -- participation.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Participation.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Participation.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES OF EXPERIENCE IN OTHER PROVINCES THAT NEXTBRIDGE USED TO COMPARE THE COST FOR THE INDIGENOUS PARTICIPATION.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Here we go.  Can we please turn to Staff IR 9C.  Okay.  In this question you were asked to provide examples of similar projects that were used in developing the construction cost estimates.  In the answer to the question you attached a previous answer asking for examples as part of the earlier designation process.  That earlier response was from 2013.

Can you provide an update maybe by way of undertaking to the table provided as part of the designation process, including any further transmission projects that have occurred since 2013?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I pass that to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yeah, we can take an undertaking to provide you a list.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Sorry, let's just assign a number.  It will be JT1.17, and it's NextBridge to provide a list -- an update to the table filed in the CRA report in -- which was provided in response to interrogatory 9C of Board Staff.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO THE TABLE FILED IN THE CRA REPORT WHICH WAS PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY 9C OF BOARD STAFF.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Can we please turn to the Charles River & Associates report, page 4.  There you developed -- there was an inflation factor that was used.  I assume that was the Consumer Price Index?  Was that...

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass those questions to Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, sir.  Yes, sir.  You're referring to the opening report from January, correct?

MR. LESYCHYN:  The Charles River & Associates report.

MR. RUSSO:  Right.

MR. LESYCHYN:  No, the inflation factor that was used was Consumer Price Index there?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.  The bottom of page 4, the Canadian CPI for the labour cost --


MR. LESYCHYN:  Would there be a difference if you used the Board's inflation factor?

MR. RUSSO:  Potentially using the Board's inflation factor could change a number of the CPI, seemed to be quite a reasonable number to use in this context, though.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  On page 4 there:

"The use of 5 percent figure is generally consistent with the breakdown of development costs to the total project costs put forth by proponents in the east-west tie application."

How did you know that that assumption is valid?  Is that based on past experience or with projects, similar projects?

MR. RUSSO:  And, sorry, you're referring now to figure 2 on page 2 of the March follow-up report, correct?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUSSO:  So the 5 percent number is supported by the data collected in the applications detailed here in figure 2, and furthermore, it appears to be generally consistent with past experience in the industry for construction.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Turning to figure 3, the Bruce to Milton 500 kV project in this may not be entirely comparable.  What other voltage levels did you consider in terms of projects?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, Bruce to Milton was 500 kV, but that one was a unique case, given its opposition in Ontario and relative comparability.  The criteria that we used for selection of the projects to look at are set forth on page 3 of our January report, which were typically 230, 240, and 287 kV projects.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Were there any other recent 230 kV projects that you would consider, did you consider in comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  No, the criteria we selected were longer than 100 kilometres, the appropriate voltage level, with the exception of Bruce Milton, and where possible Ontario projects.  If there were other ones we might consider them, but the ones we considered were those which met the criteria which we set forth.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. MARCONI:  I have just one follow-up question on that.  Did you consider comparing overall project costs rather than making assumptions and trying to back out the development cost?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, in the March report was focused on solely construction costs.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.

MR. RUSSO:  So overall costs were --


MS. MARCONI:  In the earlier --


MR. RUSSO:  -- in the opening report.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Moving on, next we would like to take a look at crossings, Hydro One existing transmission lines, technical and cost issues related to the proposal.  So if I can turn to IR 9 on east-west tie station facilities, and the other application.

MS. MARCONI:  We can pull up the second reference.  It's number 12, right?

MR. LESYCHYN:  OEB Staff 12, EB 2017-0182.  So the evidence at Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 1, page 5 in Exhibit C, tab 2.

In its application, NextBridge notes that it is working with Hydro One to address the feasibility of crossing Hydro One transmission infrastructure in certain locations, or, in the alternative, moving the Hydro One transmission structures.

Also included in the evidence is an email from Hydro One to NextBridge expressing its concern over the number of crossings and impact on the reliability of the transmission system and connected customers.

In response to EB IR 9B, Hydro One provided that any Hydro One cost related to the relocation of T1M B will be recovered from NextBridge.

In response to Staff IR 9C, Hydro One provided that in order to manage and mitigate the concern for reliability of supply to the customers, Hydro One recommended to NextBridge to reduce the number of crossings from the original 23 to 11 by rerouting the east-west tie line where feasible, and relocating two sections of the transmission line T1M.

Our questions are:  Please advise on the current status of discussions between NextBridge and Hydro One on the line issue crossing.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass this to Mr. Brott.

MR. BROTT:  So we've been working with Hydro One on all of these crossings.  We resubmitted our drawings to them in April, and we actually expect them back in June.  We've addressed all their comments.

As far as these T1M lines go, there are four crossings that we -- looking at IR 12 here, in section B you can see that we've estimated the cost if we didn't have to cross, and we got some very preliminary numbers from Hydro One.  As far as I understand, they haven't done anything detailed.  But it looks like it's more expensive if we were to move their lines than if we were to cross the lines.  And the argument on reliability, we have met all Hydro One's standards and Hydro One standards are above and beyond the code.  So we feel that the reliability to cross is just as good as the reliability to move or close to.

So we've met all the criteria for them, so we would expect that we would get approval for these in June.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Can I follow-up on that briefly?  What happens if there is an impasse?  What if Hydro One says no, we're not going to agree to it?  Ultimately, what happens then in terms of if there is a disagreement between the two parties?

MR. BROTT:  I think we're all working in good faith.  We submitted in January and they gave us more comments back.  This has been an ongoing thing and at this point, we feel that we have addressed all their comments, barring these T1M lines.

So if that happens in June when we get those back, we'll have to go back and look at that.

MR. MURRAY:  But ultimately, if they don't agree for you to cross the lines, whether or not you feel you comply with whatever their requirements are, what's ultimately going to happen in terms of the project?  Is it then going to be relocated?  Is there a process to resolve that?  I'm not sure what happens then.

MR. BROTT:  I believe there is a process to do that.  It may be a section 101, but we'll have to take that away at the time in June when we get those back and discuss it internally.

MR. LESYCHYN:  You mentioned you had some alternative solutions there.  How much would those solutions cost?  Is the cost already included in your overall estimate, your total cost estimate?

MR. BROTT:  The cost to cross the lines is included in our estimate.  We are unclear what the cost would be to move the T1M lines.  But based on very preliminary numbers from Hydro One, we believe it's more expensive to move the T1M lines.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.  Has NextBridge determined the cost of the redesign and procurement of the lines as requested by Hydro One -- you may have answered this partly -- to minimize the risk of interruption and damage from crossing Hydro One lines?  Has the cost been included in the total cost estimate?

Will the crossings impact NextBridge's scheduled completion date because of the redesign, or any kind of outage requirements you may require?

MR. BROTT:  We haven't done any redesign.  We're planning to cross the T1M lines.  Does that answer the question?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Partly.  Would you require an outage do that?

MR. BROTT:  An outage to cross?  Potentially.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Depending when you would get that outage, that could impact the schedule?

MR. BROTT:  Right.  I believe our construction contract actually contemplates crossing them live.  But I'd have to -- that's subject to check.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Can you confirm that through an undertaking?

MR. BROTT:  I can.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's undertaking JT1.18.  And, Michael, can you please help me with stating what the required language is in the undertaking?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Just, I guess, confirmation of the -- right?

MS. MARCONI:  I think it was a confirmation as to whether you are contemplating a live line crossing versus requiring an outage.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  And how the outage will impact...

MR. LESYCHYN:  Will impact on the schedule.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  On the schedule.

MR. BROTT:  Sure.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER NEXTBRIDGE IS CONTEMPLATING A LIVE LINE CROSSING VERSUS REQUIRING AND OUTAGE, AND HOW THE OUTAGE WILL IMPACT THE SCHEDULE


MR. MURRAY:  I want to follow-up with one more question.  I understand that crossings lines is kind of baked into the price.

Let's assume ultimately you aren't able to cross the lines.  I understand that moving the lines is less cost effective, but what sort of costs are we looking at if the lines have to be moved?  Can you give us a ballpark maybe?  I'm not asking to the dollar, but just kind of a sense of what sort of magnitude we're looking at if ultimately the decision is that rather than crossing, there has to be a movement of the lines?

MR. BROTT:  We've done an estimate of our cost reduction if the lines were moved, and that is in part B of the response to Staff IR 12.

And then, in discussions with Hydro One, I think there was an email chain, they estimated 1.5 to 3.5 million to relocate the lines.

MR. MURRAY:  Is that total?

MR. BROTT:  I believe it's total yes.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Can you please describe any impacts the line crossing issue might have with respect to line maintenance and reliability of service and anything NextBridge intends to do to mitigate these impacts?

MR. BROTT:  Is that impacts to us, or impacts to Hydro One are you asking?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Both.

MR. BROTT:  So there is no impacts to us as far as O&M.  This is what we've contemplated, and I can't really speak to what Hydro One -- what issues Hydro One would have with us crossing.

I am aware that they have a lot of crossings of their own lines out there, and they maintain those.

MR. LESYCHYN:  So there would be no impact to ratepayers here as far as the crossings?

MR. BROTT:  As far as a monetary impact of the crossings?

MR. LESYCHYN:  Yes.

MR. BROTT:  Give me one second.  You're asking if there is a cost impact caused by the crossings that we're bearing.  We have -- and this is part of Hydro One's standard, we have designed the crossings to a higher standard than the rest of the line.

As an example, Hydro One has a criteria that we can only utilize their tower 70 percent, or utilize our tower 70 percent in a crossing.  And therefore, we have bigger, stronger towers than we would normally put in a crossing at the Hydro One crossings.

So yes, there is some additional cost, and that's contemplated in our number.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Just a follow-up question on Lorne's question there.  Is there a possibility, if there was a particular impasse, let's say, at one particular crossing because of whatever issue, is there a possibility of going underground or is it -- that's not a possibility at all?

MR. BROTT:  To my experience, typically underground is 8 to 10 times more expensive.  If there is not an overhead solution and we had to go underground, we would.  But for that type of a cost increase, we can typically find a more economical overhead solution.

MR. LESYCHYN:  Thank you.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  We're coming to the end of our questions now.

Just a couple things around reliability issues and tower design.  So I think you may want to turn it up, OEB Staff 31.  I don't think her question was necessarily as clear as it could have been.  I think what we were trying to confirm was whether NextBridge's response time following an outage, given the location of its service centre, is consistent with assumptions that the IESO would have made in planning the IESO grid and as required in the Ontario Resource and Transmission Assessment Criteria, or the ORTAC.

So for example, section 7.2 of the ORTAC lays out design criteria for restoration of the transmission system following an outage, and it requires that the transmission system must be planned such that following certain contingencies on the transmission system effective loads can be restored within specified restoration times.

And so although there is an acknowledgment in the ORTAC that in more remote locations restoration times should be commensurate with travel times and accessibility, I guess I'm hoping that you can confirm that your response time have been discussed with the IESO and that they -- it meets their requirements as specified in the ORTAC standards?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that question on to Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  I'm not aware of the current discussions with the IESO at this time.  What I can tell you is that we have -- we will commit -- we have committed to meet the response times.  We haven't set a specific -- there is no specific time schedule set in the ORTAC, but we -- you know, NextBridge does plan to have two employees.  They have their employees in Thunder Bay.  They will set up a contract.  They have an emergency response.  We are tied in with Hydro One's SCADA facilities, so we will get notification of the outage immediately.  We will also have the relevant personnel to begin doing ground inspections.  HONI will pass on any type of fault location, so we'll get a determination as to what structure or which -- an area between which structures, and we will get our emergency response crews out there to assess the situation, and then our contract with the emergency response personnel will also take into consideration the need to respond timely to actually doing the repair work.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  So your service centre, if I understood you correctly, it's going to be in Thunder Bay?

MR. MAYERS:  Correct.

MS. MARCONI:  So you feel that if an outage occurred at the other end of the line that you'd be able to get there in the response time -- the restoration times that the IESO would have required in the ORTAC?

MR. MAYERS:  We're making the commitment that we will be able to maintain -- operate and maintain this line.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I guess just further to that I'm hoping that you can confirm that NextBridge's operation of its facilities will be compliant with the IESO's Ontario Power System Restoration Plan, any requirements that are set out in that?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, we will.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  A question for you around guyed Y towers in, I believe it's Staff 2.  You -- we've been ask -- we were asking about where these towers had been used previously, and I think you attached a response from March 2013.  I guess we're wondering, do you have examples of where these types of towers have been used since March 2013?

MR. BROTT:  We can provide an undertaking.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking JT1.19.  NextBridge to provide examples of their guyed Y towers have been used since 2013.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES OF WHERE GUYED Y TOWERS HAVE BEEN USED SINCE 2013.

MS. MARCONI:  Thanks.  And then in part D of that question, you state that NextBridge does not have operating and maintenance experience or data for the projects referenced.  However, you expect the operations and maintenance of guyed Y towers to be similar to that of other lattice structures.  And I guess we're just hoping you can, I guess, give us a better understanding of why you would expect the operations and maintenance to be similar, what sort of similarities or differences do you see that would make that a reasonable assumption.


MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that question to Mr. Mayers and Mr. Brott.

MR. BROTT:  Yeah, we maintain lots of guide towers in our fleet so that I guess guying is nothing special as far as that goes, and we also maintain the lattice towers, so it's a combination of the two.  I wouldn't say there is anything specific to the guyed Y that is not in our fleet already.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  So in fact you do have experience to say it's similar?

MR. BROTT:  It's similar, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  But perhaps I'm just misreading this.  I thought earlier in the explanation you said you couldn't estimate it because you don't have any experience with guyed Y towers in terms of their operation, maintenance, and expenses, but you seem to be suggesting that they're similar, so are there examples of what the maintenance has been for guyed Y towers?  Do you have documents or data on that?

MR. BROTT:  Well, we have guide towers, as I said before, and we also have lattice towers, as I said before, so it's not exactly synonymous, but...

MR. MURRAY:  Do you have examples of how much it costs to kind of maintain guyed Y towers?

MR. MAYERS:  We do not.  We still stand by -- we do not have maintenance records on guyed Y towers.  I think what Mr. Brott is stating is that we have lots of guide structures that we use in our NextEra energy fleet of transmission lines.  We have lattice towers as well.  We are familiar with the requirements of guying towers.  We're familiar with the maintenance that's required on lattice towers, and speaking to our operations people in particular about this tower design, they felt like there was no additional impact to the cost associated with O&M.

MS. MARCONI:  Okay.  And I guess the cost that you put or that you expect are -- they take into account sort of the climate that's similar to northern Ontario, or was there some way that you accounted for that in your experience on previous -- with previous guide or lattice towers versus what you'll be seeing up north in the east-west tie?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, all the hardware that we're going to be using is designed to, you know, be cold-weather tolerant, if you want to say that.  We build these types of, maybe not in northern Ontario, we don't have the experience, but we have built all over the country in cold climates.  We've built in North Dakota, South Dakota, Colorado, so we understand what's necessary to ensure that the equipment that we're going to install is going to be relevant for the situation.

MS. MARCONI:  Thank you.

I think this is our last question.  This is related to, I believe it's OEB Staff number 4.  Sorry, this is -- Staff number 4 is in Hydro One's application, so we do have a question related to it, but I'll just summarize what we're saying.

So Hydro One noted that:

"Based on past experience the estimate for the station work includes allowances in the contingencies to cover a number of potential risks, including outage availability risk and mismatch between NextBridge's dead-end structure design and Hydro One's clearance standards."

And I guess what we were wondering is what has NextBridge done to date to ensure that your dead-end structure is designed to Hydro One's clearance standards?

MR. BROTT:  We've been working with Hydro One and their line entrance folks, and so we have all the loading for their dead ends, we have all their clearances, and we have submitted our designs, and Hydro One has since taken those and checked them.  And so we've felt comfortable that what we've provided will meet all their standards.

MS. MARCONI:  Great.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  So that brings us to the end of Staff's questions, with the exception of a few questions we want to ask in the in camera session, and given that we're almost approaching lunch now, I was wondering whether it made sense to go in camera now and have those people who signed the undertaking declaration stay, and we can ask Staff who's going to ask their questions, and then to the extent that any of the other intervenors who signed the declaration, if they have questions on the confidential material, they can.

And perhaps everyone can reconvene at 1:30.  Does that work for everyone?

MR. CASS:  It does from the applicant's point of view, yes, and the intent would be all questions of a confidential nature occur during the in camera?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  I suggest we do that and break now.  I don't -- I guess what I'll do is I'll canvass -- I know that MNO and SEC have signed the declaration undertaking, at least that's my understanding.  I don't want to -- if they have a lot of questions, perhaps that's not enough time.  But I only have two questions and they'll probably take no more than five minutes.  I don't know whether or not you have a lot of questions for the confidential.

MS. STRACHAN:  We don't have any questions that relate to the confidential information.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have a couple that may be confidential, so I'll ask them during the confidential portion.

MR. MURRAY:  Would those be like five minutes, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So I think it probably makes sense then
-- perhaps anyone who hasn't signed the confidential declaration undertaking leaves now.  We'll complete OEB's questions, and we'll ask any other questions from the other parties that are confidential, and we'll reconvene in the public once again at 1:30.
--- On commencing in camera at 12:19 p.m.

[Page 83, line 2 to page 93, line 1 redacted]
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--- On resuming public session at 12:35 p.m.


MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Excellent.  I think that concludes the in camera session, and we will see everyone back here at 1:30.  Thanks.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Welcome back, everyone.  As I said, OEB Staff have completed their questions, so I'm going to pass it over to SEC and let them ask their questions.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.  One second here.
Continued Questions by Mr. Rubenstein:


I want to follow-up on some questions that were asked this morning that I didn't fully understand the responses to.

The first was a discussion that you had this morning with Board Staff regarding talking to Hydro One about using their existing right of way in the park.  And I understood your response is you have not looked into that.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand you haven't looked into it and you haven't obviously then done any detailed work --or any work, I guess, on that.

At first glance, would it be even feasible to use Hydro One's right of way to build, I guess, a new line through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So originally, when we were looking to go through Pukaskwa Park, we filed our engineering design and our engineering design was to use Hydro One's right of way and expand it.  So that was one of the reasons why Parks Canada rejected it; they didn't want the right of way expanded.  That's about the extent of the investigations that we had done.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it required an expansion.  You couldn't do it within the existing right of way?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  There was some discussion earlier this morning -- and I don't have the -- I'm not sure, maybe you were taken to an interrogatory, but I don't recall -- but the internal labour and how that was charged between the various partner organizations and NextBridge, and a detailed undertaking was asked to be provided about all the different people.

But I actually just wanted to step back and understand how you actually charged the internal labour -- let's use Enbridge as an example, how it charges its internal resources.  Is it taking the actual individual's salary and some overhead burden amount for that, and then dividing it out by what percentage of their -- you know, in a week they're working for NextBridge, or is it a standard rate for an individual that's used for NextBridge, regardless who the individual is?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Every month we receive an invoice from Enbridge for their personnel, and each personnel has actual numbers for the hours that they have worked in that month, and each one of them has an hourly rate.

So the hourly rate and number of hours is part of the invoice.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you.  There was a discussion earlier on this morning in a number of places about what's the cost impact of various delays, and I took from a lot of the responses that it's very difficult to understand it, I guess.  It depends what exactly the cause of the delay and when it occurs; is that it, at a high level?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you done an analysis internally on what the impact of delays will be on cost?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we haven't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand the evidence you need to have -- to stay on schedule, you need to have a decision from this Board, I believe, by the end of the summer.  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  July, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the Board does not have a decision by -- if a decision doesn't come out for a month, or maybe three or six months after that date, you have not calculated or estimated what the cost is, what the cost would be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  Currently we are sticking -- we have a plan to meet the 2020 in-service date, so we're working towards executing the plan to reach the 2020 in-service date.  So we have not done the scenarios, I guess, on various items in the schedule that they don't come to fruition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We're having the hearing in June, so having a decision by the end of July or not having a decision by the end of July, it's not an improbable outcome.  Do I understand you've actually done no calculation of what is a one month, three month, six month delay from the Board would give you on cost of the final project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  What we've done is we've come up with the July 2018 date based on projecting forward all of the things that we'll need going forward when it comes to expropriations, triggering.

So we have, from our understanding, timelines for each of those things that trigger it.  So we've not reforecast any of those things going forward that will help us make our 2020 in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was discussion this morning about the termination of the contract with Valard if, say, leave to construct is not approved.  And my understanding is that, at a high level, the contract allows essentially for -- if there is a cancellation of the contract, whatever costs have been incurred by the contractor, that they will be able to recover that from NextBridge.

Do I understand that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Gill?

MR. GILL:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Will the construction contractor have incurred any costs prior to the leave-to-construct decision by the Board?

MR. GILL:  Yes, they currently have within their scope some engineering activities that are ongoing as we speak.  So there are smaller costs, but yes, they do have scope that's being executed today.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you have a rough estimate of what your expectation is that they will have spent before the leave-to-construct approval is granted?

MR. GILL:  No, I can -- I can take an undertaking to put that together assuming a leave-to-construct approval for July, and see what it would be by then.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you do that, please?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So it's undertaking JT1.20, and it's to provide a cost estimate assuming the delay beyond 2020.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, a cost estimate of the construction costs that Valard will incur up until the point of the expected date of the leave-to-construct decision.

MR. GILL:  That's my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in that undertaking, if you can elaborate on what they're actually -- the costs that they're incurring in what areas.

MR. GILL:  Sure.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you for clarifying.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE A COST ESTIMATE OF THE CONSTRUCTION COSTS THAT VALARD WILL INCUR UP UNTIL THE POINT OF THE EXPECTED DATE OF THE LEAVE-TO-CONSTRUCT DECISION


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In response to some questions about Staff 10, this was the contingency -- you were asked about the contingency and how you forecasted the amount of contingency, and I was a bit confused.

You were originally -- at the beginning of questioning, you were asked about this and I understood that really what you had done -- you were asked to quantify it or provide the actual numbers.  And I understood your response at a high level to be, well, what actually you did was you had broken down the percentage that usually you would require for contingency into sort of smaller sub areas, and that aggregates -- you may make adjustments to that, and that aggregates to the larger amount.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. GILL:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So can I ask is there -- can you provide that information?  What are those areas that you've aggregated and what those amounts -- obviously if you made adjustments based on what I understood would be more qualitative adjustments to those, so we can actually see how you built up a contingency amount?

MR. GILL:  Subject to check with counsel, but I believe some of that work product we consider to be confidential in that it was competitive.  But subject to check with counsel.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You request confidentiality?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So we'll take that away, Mark, and we'll respond with whatever confidentiality concern there may be in the answer.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's undertaking JT1.21.  It's NextBridge to provide areas that were aggregated to arrive at the contingency amount provided in the evidence.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO PROVIDE AREAS THAT WERE AGGREGATED TO ARRIVED AT THE CONTINGENCY AMOUNT PROVIDED IN THE EVIDENCE


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I understand that by the way you've determined the contingency amount, have you done -- I guess you didn't do this, and maybe the question is why not.  You didn't do sort of a probabilistic assessment of different risk factors that might occur based on the actual risk factors that you may have identified that came to a contingency?

MR. GILL:  No, not specifically.  You're referring to some of the conventional estimating tools for risk assessment and as a general practice, that is not the process that we use.  It is more of an experience based on the level of scope that has been defined and the perceived risk with the individual parts that we may look at.

And just to expand on that a little, take for example a project that may or may not -- let's say it had, there's a labour component that you're looking at and for some reason, you had reason to be concerned about a fluctuating labour rate, whether it was project-related agreements or it was a lengthy project that spanned a couple years, you would assess the labour component with a contingency to cover some of those costs, and in some cases it's not needed, it's not a concern, and therefore you wouldn't adjust those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But sort of generally I think you even identified that there are sort of more standard ways, I guess, to do it, and you're doing it a different way, and it's not clear to me why your method -- or at least let me ask, why is your method superior?

MR. GILL:  It's worked for us in the past.  It's actually a process that I've come to find at NextEra, and it's the way they've done it, it's the way we've continued to do it since I've been there, in the ten years that I've been there.  And every year there is a reflection on how those estimates of contingency reflect against the actual cost, and that helps us to true it up going forward, but we found it to work for us, and it's worked in the past, and management continues to go down that path.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you say you used it, it's NextEra who has used that method?


MR. GILL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to Staff 7 on page 3 of that response.  Here you have provided some costs and contract types and explanation of why you had used certain procurement methods, and one thing I notice was you had -- there's a rate design contract with Concentric, and I was wondering if you can explain what work is Concentric doing with respect to, I guess it's at the development stage?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So this contract was done many years ago at the beginning of the development period, and Concentric is no longer doing the work.  It was a short-term contract.  The scope of work I am not familiar with, but I can do an undertaking to let you know the scope of work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be Undertaking JT1.22, to NextBridge to provide scope of work of short-term contract with Concentric for rate design.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE SCOPE OF WORK OF SHORT-TERM CONTRACT WITH CONCENTRIC FOR RATE DESIGN.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go back to the schedule, and I'm looking at Staff 8, but I don't think you need to turn up that specifically.  And this goes back to the in-service date by -- scheduled for the end of 2020, as I understand it.  My understanding also from this response is that you have not built in escalation in the construction contract, but there would be in that contract if there is a delay beyond 2020.  Am I reading that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe so.  Mr. Gill, confirm?

MR. GILL:  Yes, so explicitly what we were trying to explain was that the actual contract with Valard does not include per se escalation.  Their rates that they have provided for their price assume the construction period.  So to the extent the construction period changes in event of a delay and it goes out, there are references to tie it back to some of their labour agreements, so that their adjustment for cost is somewhat bound to a demonstrated change in those labour rates.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would -- and correct me if I'm wrong, but your project schedule has built in contingency time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It does.  The filing that we made last week in May, the May 3rd filing, talks about contingency in our schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you include that contingency, what is the, in your view, the date where an end of 2020 in-service date simply becomes not feasible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't done that analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide a date or that's just simply, you're not able to do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think there are multiple factors in the schedule that talk about critical path, critical milestones.  And so each one of those would have an impact, potential impact, on schedule.  And so without running the scenarios, I don't -- I don't think that we -- without being specific about what it is that caused the schedule delay, we couldn't provide you with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So help me understand how you wouldn't have done that for your own sake in determining when we would need to have -- when the drop-dead date to begin the project or after the leave-to-construct decision so you can do certain things would be -- to meet the in-service date.  If it has all these consequences such as escalation rates will now be included in the project, and obviously the importance of having the line in-service by then.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we've -- I mean, as I mentioned, we took the 2020 in-service date, December 2020 in-service date, worked backwards from there, knowing that we needed to have it in-service from the Order-in-Council and the IESO's needs assessment, and created our schedule to meet that date with about a one-month contingency float.

And so as we come up to milestones, critical milestones that we need to meet, those are the ones that would impact -- potentially impact schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If I -- I want you to turn up Staff 9 on page 2, and part of this response at a high level you're asked about ensuring looking at the costs to ensure that they're reasonable, and you point to, that you've undertaken the Charles River Associates -- has done an analysis and has benchmarked those costs.  I think this is in response to a CCC undertaking that's been provided.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that that was undertaken for the purposes of the regulatory process or was this undertaken for the purposes of your own internal, you know, gut check to make sure that the bids that we got looked reasonable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was done for regulatory purposes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with respect to the non-regulatory, so for internal purposes to determine that the bids that you got were -- you know, that they -- sort of its own sort of check on those, did you do any sort of analysis?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when we put together the construction cost estimates we used, as Mr. Gill had talked about earlier, we used the bidding process to get real market data, and then I believe we've talked about in some of our other projects discussion on cost, some of the transmission projects that we've done in the past.  And so using our own experience and the costing that we have seen, that was our check on how this would be an appropriate cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Ask you to turn to Staff 21.  I'm looking at the attachment.  And in this interrogatory you were asked with respect to the development costs.  And if you could turn to the original page to see the full question, but you were asked:

"For each increase in development costs that are attributable to scope change or budget variance please provide the following information."

And you provide various pieces of information.

I have a question about a couple of these line items.  First if I could ask you to turn -- look at is line 20 -- or activity number 21.  And I was wondering if you can provide a -- so this is with respect to incremental field studies and access route assessments, and so there's -- the budget is increased by $2.2 million from what was originally budgeted in the original development.  Am I reading this table correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide a breakdown of that, of that cost variance?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's possible.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be an undertaking of JT1.23, for NextBridge to provide a breakdown of increase in the cost due to incremental field studies and access route assessment.

If I may ask, Mark, if you could just address the microphone, because I have real trouble hearing.  Thanks.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF INCREASE IN THE COST DUE TO INCREMENTAL FIELD STUDIES AND ACCESS ROUTE ASSESSMENT.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the other one I had a question about was item number 39.  This was regulatory and accounting matters.  And the description -- the rationale says:

"Specific accounting practices not contemplated in advance of designation authorization to use U.S. GAAP accounting required, as well as addressing deferral accounting matters arising out of the 'D' for the designation decision, PVR, and other regulatory matters."

I was wondering if you could expand on that?  What work was done in this regard under this category?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I can pass that over to you, Mr. Boykin.

MR. BOYKIN:  Sure.  We had to make additional filings to authorize the use of U.S. GAAP, as well as requesting the use of deferral accounts.  Is that what you're asking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Deferral account.  Were you -- there's a lot of filings in these -- you guys have made --


MR. BOYKIN:  There were additional administrative filings that were required for the project --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was the --


[Reporter appeals.]


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.

MR. BOYKIN:  There were additional administrative filings required for the project related to accounting type matters.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With this Board?

MR. BOYKIN:  And I guess also performance-based rate making.  What was the other...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What work was done with respect to performance-based rate making that was not in the original development budget.

When you're talking about -- can you help explain?  Are we talking about internal resources that is allocated?  Was it external -- you know, your auditors?  What's making up these costs in this category?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can take some of that.  The accounting part is Mr. Boykin.  However, in discussing -- as a part of our designation filing, we were going to look into performance-based rate making.

So we did activities, came to the OEB to some stakeholder sessions, worked on investigating PBR, and that was included in this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to turn to Staff 29?  In the response here, you provide a risk matrix.  I guess it's an updated version of one that was previously filed in the designation application.

Does NextBridge have an internal risk matrix, or risk register, or a similar document that you are using internally to manage all the risks of such a project of this magnitude?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We use our project schedule.  That has critical path in it that talks about risks and what items are on the critical path that could cause -- I mean, that could cause the project to be delayed, and that is kind of what we use on a day-to-day.

We do have a risk register that was filed as part of our designation.  But from the project management perspective, we don't have a risk matrix that we use on a daily basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does any of the -- let me ask.  This NextEra, is this normal for -- I think it was for NextEra or Enbridge.  Is that normal procedure for your partner companies not to have a risk register, or risk matrix, or some systematic way to look at all the risks of a large construction project like this and how to mitigate them?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we've articulated the risks as part of this.  But from speaking from a NextEra perspective, we usually use those types of project management controls during our construction phase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so is one being developed for the construction phase by NextBridge, as opposed to -- well, is one being developed for the construction phase?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers or Mr. Gill?

MR. MAYERS:  Our construction management team will put together a risk matrix, and it's going to look very similar to this related to the construction activities.  And they will monitor those risks; they will work with the contractor to ensure that that risk register is updated as necessary.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when would that expected to be done?

MR. MAYERS:  It's probably going to be done over the next couple of months.  Our construction management team is being put together.

I mean, we already have this risk register.  We clearly understand what we believed our risks to be.  But when we get the entire construction management team in place and ready to be mobilized to the site, then they will have this risk register in place prior to actually showing up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't have it now?

MR. MAYERS:  In some format.  Like I said, it looks in general like what you're kind of looking at.  It's not exactly like that, but it's going to have those risks and it's going to identify -- you know, it's going to have target dates and things that will be -- that eventually can show when the impact would be.

But to my knowledge today, we do not have that in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  If I can ask you to turn to CCC 10?  On the second page, you provide a table of the various steps, as I understand it, from essentially getting the construction budget to your development to the Board.  Do I understand that is what this represents?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide the materials that were provided to the Board for their review?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check with my legal counsel, I believe we can.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be undertaking JT1.24, NextBridge to provide the reports that it provided to its board of directors, as in NextBridge's answer to CCC Interrogatory No. 10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24:  TO PROVIDE REPORTS NEXTBRIDGE PROVIDED TO ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS IN NEXTBRIDGE'S ANSWER TO CCC NO. 10.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just a follow-up on a question that was asked and for reference, I'm looking at CCC 11 attachment, page 5.  This is the CRA report and there was some brief discussion about this, about the CRA used CPI to escalate the construction and other costs.  Did I understand that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  This one is for Mr. Russo.

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you normally use Consumer Price Index in analysis like this to calculate costs?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat the last part of the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you normally use the simple consumer price index to escalate costs in an analysis like this that you may undertake?

MR. RUSSO:  For clarity, the CPI was used to escalate the construction and other costs, which included labour.  For materials, we used industry-specific sources of information.

But to further answer your question, I would say for escalating labour costs and other costs, CPI is something we routinely use in engagements such as this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You wouldn't use for labour costs a more industry-specific or a more labour-specific inflation index?

MR. RUSSO:  CPI does incorporate a number of factors, such as labour, and it was the most appropriate metric to use in this particular analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why do you say it's the most appropriate?

MR. RUSSO:  It was the best available source of information which we found to escalate the data.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to CCC 18, and my question is what happens if the Board denies your leave-to-construct application?  If the Board denies your leave-to-construct application, what will the total development cost be at the end of -- let's say we use your date of the end of July of this year.  What will your total cost of development budget be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  When we filed -- from our understanding, when we filed our leave to construct, our development phase had essentially ended.  So that was our 40 million in development costs that we're seeking a prudency review and recovery from during this.

However, we've been spending, trying to ramp-up for construction since that time.  So the budget that would have been spent starting in July 2017 to now.  I believe there are some numbers in here, but there was an undertaking earlier to get the numbers that came from January to today's date.  So that could be part of our undertaking as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Imagine hypothetically that the Board denies a leave-to-construct application.  I was wondering if you can tell us what the wind up costs would be for NextBridge.

So if the Board says June 20th, do you have an estimate of what the cost would be to wind up operations, or...

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't come up with that number for that hypothetical scenario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If the Board denies a leave to construct, let's say it approves another Hydro One line proposal, would you be seeking from this Board recovery of any costs in, beside the development costs, which I think I understand that you would be.  But would you be seeking recovery of any further costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We haven't yet had those discussions internally yet, so I can't opine yet on what we would seek.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you can't provide the potential magnitude if you would?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can provide the amount of spending that we've done in our development budget to date.  So I think that was part of one of the undertakings.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, but if say -- you will have, as I understand from what we've been talking about, there will be construction costs that you've incurred to date and you don't know if you would seek recovery of those.

I was understanding that, and I was just trying to get a sense of what could be the potential magnitude if you were seeking recovery.   Are you able to provide some quantification?  My understanding, it's clearly obviously a high level.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We don't yet know what we would seek from the Board if we were unable to get our leave to construct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide sort of the upper end?  What is the most you -- to me the most you can ask for is what you've spent or what -- you know, including any wind-up costs?  I'm just trying to get an upper boundary here if the Board denies leave that, you know, you could even seek recovery --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  I understand.  And so I think, though, the decision on the quantum of what we would be seeking would be a decision that would also go to our board of directors, and so I can't make a determination at this point in time on what that would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MR. GARNER:  I wonder, Mr. Rubenstein, if you mind if I interject, because I have the same question.  So could -- is it possible, however, to give us all of your sunk costs on this project to date?  So I was going to ask you a question taking, as you say, a development cost, and then I saw another table, your construction costs.  There may be others.  But is it possible to provide us with a breakdown of your current sunk costs in this project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's possible.  We could do that.

MR. GARNER:  Could I have an undertaking for that?  I'm not sure if that would meet Mr. Rubenstein's need, but that would meet mine.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would ask you for -- my only -- I would ask Mr. Garner if he'd accept this friendly amendment -- would be sunk costs up until, let's use the end of July 2018, which was to be the expectation of a decision from your --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Understood, yes.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  So that would be an undertaking, JT1.25, NextBridge to provide sunk cost assuming by the end of July 2018 under scenario that the application is not -- that the approval is not received.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO PROVIDE SUNK COSTS, ASSUMING BY THE END OF JULY 2018 UNDER THE SCENARIO THAT THE APPROVAL IS NOT RECEIVED.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Could I ask you to turn to SEC 3, attachment 3.  Just to confirm I'm looking at the right document, as I understand this is an excerpt of the scope of services I believe between the partnership and the Canadian operating entity?  Or am I confusing...

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  and if you look under "scope management", and part 1:

"The responsibility is to establish a project charter."

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Has that been done?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it has.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check with my attorney and to check on confidentiality, I could take a look into that.

MR. CASS:  Yes, Mark, I've never seen it.  I don't know the contents or really what it's about, so we would take a look at that and then respond accordingly, either provide it in full or explain why any part needs confidentiality or anything else.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if you look under "risk management", it says:  "Create and maintain a cross-functional --


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Can we --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Oh, sorry.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  -- give an undertaking to this one?  That's JT1.26.  It's to provide project charter as mentioned in the scope management section of the Schedule C's scope of services which was provided in response to Schools number 3 -- I mean SEC IR number 3 -- attachment 3, sorry.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  TO PROVIDE PROJECT CHARTER AS MENTIONED IN THE SCOPE MANAGEMENT SECTION OF THE SCHEDULE C'S SCOPE OF SERVICES WHICH WAS PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO SEC 3 ATTACHMENT 3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then my next question is under "risk management".  It says "create or maintain a cross-functional risk matrix".  Is that the document that we were just talking about previously?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Just hold on one moment, please, if I can confer.

Sorry.  Apologies.  Could you repeat the question?  You're asking if it's the same document that we -- that is included in our evidence is what we consider the risk matrix?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, no, we were previously discussing, and you said there is a similar document to what was provided in the evidence, and that was what you had as of now, at least.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is this cross-functional risk matrix that it's talking about in this document that, or is there something else that you have or have not done?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The risk matrix that is in our evidence is what we are using as our risk matrix.  It's at the appropriate level of detail for our risk during the development phase, and then we talked a little bit more about the risk matrix that would be put together during the construction phase.  And so that's subsequent to this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If I can ask you to turn to SEC 4.  So in this interrogatory we had asked you to essentially update a table that you provided in the designation application.  And it was comparing on a number of different specifications the Board's reference plan, your recommended plan in that application, and now you've added a column for the leave-to-construct application.

And if we move to the second page, under "number and average of spacing of towers", one of the things is you've increased the number of towers and you've reduced the average span from 395 metres to 365 metres.  I was wondering if you could provide and help me understand what's driving that and why that has occurred.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that question on to Mr. Brott.

MR. BROTT:  So when we first did the engineering for this, we had looked at basically the existing Hydro One east-west tie, and it spotted very similar to that.  Now, as we got into the development of it, you know, we had the park reroute, we had several other reroutes like the Dorian reroute, and that individually drove the number of towers up.

There were also things, you know, as we got into the design, we realized that Hydro One had obviously built their line in a different environmental climate, or environmental regulatory climate, than us, so we were forced to stay further away from a lot of water bodies.

We were -- you know, there's just different constraints as far as them taking sweet spots.  I'm not sure if that's a technical term, but they basically got to go through and route their line first, so they got all the more narrow crossings across, say, rivers or canyons.

So through -- you know, throughout spotting we ended up having shorter spans, and I will also attribute this, that we found statistically there's more severe weather in the eastern portion of the line, what we call segment F.  It's right near the park.  So in order to account for that more severe weather we tightened up the spacing there.

So all those things combined along with some other factors is the reason why our average span length went down.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If I can ask you to turn to -- this is the updated evidence that was filed, so Exhibit B, tab 15.  I'm looking at Schedule 1 attachment.  This is the CRA report, the March 14th version of it.

And as I understand, in this CRA was analyzing construction costs of various transmission projects that it had access to.  Is that -- to show, I guess, the reasonableness of the project.  Do I understand that at a high level what the report was intended to show?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes.  The purpose of the March 14th report was to analyze solely the construction costs of a number of projects, taking out the development costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you, on the -- I'm looking at page 3 here.  You provide sort of information of where you've drawn data from.  And one was the Black & Veatch 2014 transmission expansion planning report for the Western Electricity Coordinating Council.

Are you able to provide a copy of that report?

MR. RUSSO:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be an undertaking, JT1.27, NextBridge to provide a copy of Black & Veatch 2014 transmission expansion planning report mentioned in in CRA report of March 14, 2018.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF BLACK & VEATCH 2014 TRANSMISSION EXPANSION PLANNING REPORT MENTIONED IN IN CRA REPORT OF MARCH 14, 2018.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The second thing is another source you used was the AESO transmission cost database.  Yes?

MR. RUSSO:  Sorry, yes.  The table incorporates two projects from the Alberta ESO system database.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that database publicly available?

MR. RUSSO:  To my knowledge it is.  Yet the data in the database are in fact anonymized, as described in the January report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to provide -- don't provide the database, but if it's publicly available, a link to the database or somewhere where we could find the record where it comes from?


MR. RUSSO:  We can do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's JT1.28, NextBridge to provide -- Mr. Rubenstein, can you help me, please?  I didn't hear exactly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, no problem.  This is to provide the link or how to access the AESO transmission cost database.

And if we turn to page 4 of this, your report, as I see it, in part 2 what you're trying to do is to -- as I take it, to try using the east-west tie designation information to figure out what the -- to figure out what's -- to determine what's an appropriate share of development to construction cost.  Do I understand that correctly what that table is showing -- attempting to do?

MR. RUSSO:  That's correct.  Figure 2 on page 2 of the March report sets forth an analysis of the development costs for each of the proposed projects.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did you attempt to normalize, or did you consider normalizing the development costs to account for some things included that were included in some -- some categories that were included in some applications and were not.  So I understood from discussions earlier on today that NextBridge did not include some First Nations and Métis participation or consultation costs in their development budget, but some other might have.  Did you look into normalize that?

MR. RUSSO:  We did not.  The level of data necessary to develop an accurate assessment of different nuances between development costs were generally not publicly available, or available in the data we consulted.

If I can add one more additional data to your prior question, sir.  Footnote 9 is the January report is actually the direct link to the Alberta ESO data.  So maybe we can cross one off pre-emptively.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair.  And when you looked at the comparator projects from the Black & Veach report or the AESO database, or from the various Hydro One projects that you have utilized, did you take a look to determine if the filings for some of those applications -- the actual projects were developed to take a look at the development costs that may have been incorporated into those projects, to sort of see if you're on the right track in terms of comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  I'm not quite certain how to understand the meaning of seeing whether they're on the right track. But the best available information allowed to us assess the development costs from each of the projects that were available publicly.

In many cases, many of the nuances and idiosyncratic aspects of each of these projects wouldn't necessarily be available to the public to fully dig into each individual project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The last question I had with respect to the operation of the line after it's in-service, and you may have this or you may not.  But I'm actually looking at the actual designation decision.

And the Board references with respect to UCT, and I'll quote:
"UCT also indicated that its partner, NextEra, will take the lead role in the operations and maintenance phase of the project."

Is that still the plan with respect to the operations of the line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you, is there -- can you explain what type of operations and maintenance role they will take on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can turn that question to you, Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Specifically, what are you asking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe you can explain to me -- as I understand from what was just confirmed, NextEra will take on the lead role in the operation and maintenance phase of the line.

MR. MAYERS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain what that actually entails, what it means that NextEra is taking on that role versus NextBridge as an entity.

MR. MAYERS:  There's multiple portions to this.  You're going to have a regulatory component, a compliance component, and then the actual OM&A.

And in the case of the operations side, which I'm going to respond to, we're going to have employees, as we mentioned, in Thunder Bay.  They're going to have daily responsibilities for any issues that come up on the line.  They're going to have inspections that are going to be necessary.  They're going to have to work with land owners if there's issues related to our line, or anything related to Aboriginal issues that might come up.

I mean, they're going to be a functioning operating group.  They will also have contracts in place to ensure that we have maintenance that can be done.  So we'll hire a contractor of some sort.  It could be Valard, but we don't know; we haven't gotten to that point yet.

But it will be a large transmission type contractor that can do the necessary maintenance and have the appropriate equipment.  They will also be responsible for ensuring that we have an emergency restoration plan in place.

So those are the general highlights of the O&M aspects of the maintenance portion of it.  Ms. Tidmarsh can talk a little bit more about the regulatory portion of that, but there will be compliance filings that are necessary as well, and these gentlemen will work in conjunction with our regulatory group within NextBridge to ensure we have the appropriate documentation in place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the staff that will be the operations staff that I believe will be located in -- I think we talked about Thunder Bay earlier on, will they be NextEra employees or NextBridge employees?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think I understand your question.  They will be NextEra employees.  We talked about how NextBridge is set up, and so different leads take on different roles and responsibilities.  And Enbridge does regulatory, et cetera, et cetera.  So it's NextEra that will be doing the O&M work.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Ms. Strachan:


MS. STRACHAN:  Good afternoon.  My name is Megan Strachan and I'm counsel to the Métis Nation of Ontario, who I'll refer to as the MNO.

First, I have a few questions that flow from NextBridge's response to OEB Staff IR number 22, and I would like to start off with a very straightforward clarification of NextBridge's response.

So NextBridge states that it followed policy direction from Ontario contained in the 2013 long-term energy plan regarding Indigenous consultation, as well as Indigenous economic participation.  And that response also states that the OEB in its August 7, 2013, decision indicated there would be a presumption that the designated transmitter, NextBridge, would explore economic participation opportunities with affected Indigenous communities.

So from this, I understand that NextBridge was required, both by Ontario policy and also by the OEB's phase 2 decision, to carry out both the procedural aspects of consultation, but also to pursue economic participation arrangements with affected and interested Indigenous communities.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MS. STRACHAN:  Some questions were already asked by counsel to OEB Staff on the connection between consultation activities and economic participation discussions.  And I understand those focused more on whether the costs were separated out.  And I have a few questions on not so much whether the costs were separate, but whether these discussions were able to cross-pollinate and inform each other.

So I'm wondering if you can elaborate on whether developments in consultation activities were able to inform the approach that was taken by NextBridge in its economic participation discussions with Indigenous communities.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  As NextBridge moved through our duty-to-consult obligations as part of what we were delegated by the Crown, we started having more and more conversations with Indigenous communities and the strength of their rights along the length of the line.

So as spoke to communities, a lot more communities who were quite proximate to the line ended up being much more interested in economic participation than others.  And so that's kind of how the -- how it cross-pollinated between consultation and participation.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thanks.  And I'm going to ask a few questions on the -- specifically in the context of the MNO, but before I do that I just want to ask a few questions on the specific consultation activities that were undertaken with the MNO.

In OEB Staff IR number 41, in NextBridge's response you give an update on the consultation activities that have occurred to date with Indigenous communities, and in that response you refer to both your publicly available environmental assessment and you also provide an update on activities that have continued since the EA was filed in July of 2017.

And so from the consultation log that's included at Appendix 2IX of the environmental assessment, I understand consultation began with the MNO back in late 2013; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  And in your response to OEB Staff IR 41 you state that NextBridge received both traditional land use information and also traditional knowledge from the MNO, and the response states that an MNO traditional land use study was received on November 25th, 2016 and that a further secondary study was received in March of 2017; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MS. STRACHAN:  And are you able to elaborate on why a second report was needed after the first one was completed in November of 2016?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, as we moved through the process of the environmental assessments, and then also we received -- consultation is an ongoing flow, and as project parameters improve we also try to make sure that the Indigenous communities are kept up-to-date on how our parameters and our environmental assessment and our construction planning continuously improve, and so we were -- in our discussions with the MNO we determined that as we started to refine our plan and our environmental assessment that it was best if the MNO working together with updated information could provide us a second report.

MS. STRACHAN:  And if I take it from this that you're personally familiar with both of the MNO reports that were provided to you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so I would like to read you the disclaimer pages from these two studies, and are you familiar enough with the reports to confirm the content of those disclaimers?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  So the first MNO study is titled "MNO project specific traditional land use study and evaluation criteria NextBridge infrastructures east-west tie transmission project", and could you confirm that the disclaimer page of that report, which is found on page 2, reads as follows, and this is a direct quote:

"Information collected for this study is the sole property of the Métis Nation of Ontario.  The information contained within this project's specific study is meant for a single application only for use in the environmental assessment and associated review for the NextBridge infrastructure east-west tie transmission project.  Citation, use, or reproduction of the information contained in this report for any other purpose is permissible only with the written consent of the Métis Nation of Ontario."

Are you able to confirm that that is found in the first MNO report?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check I believe it is.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

And the second MNO study is titled "the Métis Nation of Ontario occupied lands report", and it has a similar disclaimer which reads as follows:

"Information collected for the Métis Nation of Ontario occupied lands report for the NextBridge infrastructure LP east-west tie transmission project remains the sole property of the Métis Nation of Ontario.  The information contained within this document is meant for a single application only.  Citation, use, or reproduction of the information contained in this document for any other purpose is permissible only with the written consent from the Métis Nation of Ontario."

And can you confirm that that's found in the second MNO report?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check, yes, I believe it is.

MS. STRACHAN:  Thank you.

And would you agree that these statements I just read to you make clear that both of these MNO reports are projects specific to NextBridge's east-west tie project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And that these statements that I read to you also make clear that these reports are to be treated by NextBridge and the MNO as confidential?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And would these two statements cover not only the reports but also the data that underlies those reports?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it would.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so just going back to OEB Staff IR number 41, NextBridge's response states in regard to Indigenous communities specifically that:

"Communities have been offered opportunities to share relevant data with NextBridge through the implementation of information sharing agreements."

And to your knowledge do NextBridge and the MNO have an information sharing agreement or another agreement in place that covers the sharing of these two reports?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I assume you're familiar with that agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And does this agreement include a commitment by NextBridge to keep the MNO reports and their underlying data confidential?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it does.

MS. STRACHAN:  And under the terms of that agreement could NextBridge disclose the MNO reports or their underlying data without the consent of the MNO?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we can not.

MS. STRACHAN:  And also in NextBridge's response to OEB Staff IR 41, NextBridge writes that:

"The collection of TK and TLU information aided in the identification, mitigation, and/or avoidance of potential adverse effects that may arise from project routing, construction, and operations."

So even though the information and data in the TK and TLU reports are confidential, NextBridge was able to use the MNO studies in its environmental assessment to identify, mitigate, and avoid potential adverse effects; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is.  We took the information that was provided to us by the MNO that was confidential, and as is common practice in an environmental assessment, we rolled it up and made it anonymous, and were using it in our project planning for our environmental assessment.

MS. STRACHAN:  And would NextBridge have been able to engage in this planning and come to the mitigation measures without having access to the MNO's reports and their underlying data?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Without having the precise information from the MNO, no, that wouldn't be possible.

MS. STRACHAN:  And I would just like to circle back to the link we talked about earlier between consultation activities and economic participation negotiations.  And so specifically in the context of the MNO did these reports inform NextBridge's overall approach to economic participation with the MNO?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as we went through our consultation with the MNO and received information from them on the strength of their claims along the line, also at one point during the process the MNO actually ended up with two more communities added to them that were in the project area.  Those two extra communities ended up becoming part of our participation discussions as well.

MS. STRACHAN:  And in NextBridge's leave-to-construct application in Exhibit H it says that negotiations regarding economic participation are ongoing with the MNO.  I haven't seen any updated information on that, and so can you confirm that these discussions are still ongoing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They are, yes.

MS. STRACHAN:  And so just to summarize then, do I understand that it's taken about four-and-a-half years of consultation and negotiations which began back in late 2013 and are still ongoing to arrive at some kind of economic participation arrangement with the MNO which, as you said, is not finalized, as those negotiations are ongoing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  So also related to timelines, I'm going to jump to OEB Staff IR number 4 and specifically part B.  And in that IR the OEB asks about NextBridge's shift of $1 million in construction costs to the development phase of the project.

And counsel for OEB staff has asked a few questions on this already, and I understand NextBridge has undertaken to provide some additional information about what activities were accomplished during the extended development phase, so it's possible my questions on this could be answered by that undertaking.  But I'm going to go ahead and ask them anyways.

Are you able to speak to what additional progress the extended development phase afforded to the consultation and/or economic participation discussions with the MNO specifically?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So one of the activities that we determined was essential despite the project delay that we continued that we didn't ramp down was all of our consultation activities and participation negotiations with Indigenous communities, including the MNO.

And so during the extended development phase we continued to work with the MNO on consultation as well as our participation negotiations.

MS. STRACHAN:  And in the response to OEB Staff IR 4 NextBridge stated that it was during the extended development phase, you were able to continue to consult, as you said, and that this extended timeline allowed communities to have a more extensive understanding of the potential impacts of the projects on traditional rates, and to date these discussions have indicated there are no significant concerns that would impact project costs and schedule.

So am I correct that it is NextBridge's opinion that this extended timeline allowed it to get to the point where NextBridge believed it has resolved outstanding significant Métis concerns that could impact project costs and schedule?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. STRACHAN:  I have one more question before I wrap up.  Do you think that NextBridge and the MNO could have come to an economic participation arrangement in a significantly shorter timeline, given the consultation activities that were carried out and the evolution of the relationship between MNO and NextBridge?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe that there could have been much of a shorter timeline, considering the ongoing development of the project and the amount of information that was shared between MNO and NextBridge, especially when it came to getting our detailed information from our general contractor.

So during the extended development phase, we continued to negotiate and continued to feed in information on the project to the MNO and to those negotiations.

MS. STRACHAN:  I said that was my last question, but I do have one more.  Do you think that you could have advanced the economic participation discussions as far as they have without carrying out the extensive consultation activities since the end of 2013?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't think we could have.

MS. STRACHAN:  That's my questions.  Thank you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon, panel.  I'm Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Consumers' Council of Canada.  I'm only going to be asking questions following up on one interrogatory, so I'm going to refer you to Exhibit I.B.NextBridge.CCC.6.

In this interrogatory, the question asked the IESO update report filed on December 15, 2015, indicated the project is projected to provide a net economic benefit of $1.1 billion compared to a local generation alternative.  Under the reference assumptions used in the studies, has the IESO done any subsequent studies related to the overall costs and benefits of the EWT project.

And the response attached a document called the updated assessment of the need for the east-west tie expansion on December 1st, 2014.

Looking at the attachment at page 19, the first full paragraph starting at line 10, it says:
"Under the reference case assumptions, the EW tie expansion project is approximately $200 million lower in net present cost compared to the no expansion alternative."

My question is this: is the 200 million dollar net benefit referred to in the updated assessment relative to the 1.1 billion in the 2015 assessment?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe so.  However, this was written by IESO, so we would have to check.  But I believe so, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So subject to check, from 2015 to 2017, based on updating assumptions including, as I understand it, the project costs, the net benefits relative to generation alternatives has decreased from approximately 1.1 billion to 200 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't believe so.  From my understanding, the no expansion alternative was $1.1 billion.  And so the IESO used the current cost estimate for the east-west tie, the $777 million, and compared that to the 1.1 billion.  And I believe that's where the 200 million...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm confused now.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So am I.  I'm not the author of the report, so I'm not sure I can opine on -- sorry.  Hold on one moment.

We have very helpful engineers.  The delta is actually the cost of the east-west tie transmission line plus the station work from Hydro One.  And the delta between the 1.1 billion and the line plus the station is the 200 million.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I'm a little confused.  So what has changed relative to 2015 in terms of the net benefit associated, because I understood that 1.1 billion was calculated on the basis of the then -- I think it was a 500 million dollar cost estimate, for example, for your portion of the east-west tie.  That's gone up, and then other assumptions have changed since the two years.  And my impression was that whole calculation changed, the total calculation, from 1.1 billion to 200 million.

What's relative -- what has changed relative to the 1.1 billion, if it's not the 200 million dollar number here?  Because it sounds like the first estimate is measuring one sort of benefit analysis and the update, from what you're telling me, has done something differently.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know the ins and outs of what the IESO did in the first no alternatives benefits analysis.  I know it was close to a billion dollars.  That billion dollars -- and again, I didn't write it, but I believe the billion dollars from the 2015 and now the 1.1 billion in this report are the two new alternatives.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I couldn't find 1.1 billion in the 2017 report, which is why I'm asking.  It struck me that the first report was very clear, $1.1 billion, and this is why we're doing the project.

I read the update in 2017, and the price has gone up from 500 million to, I think, 777 million for your part.  The Hydro One part has gone up in cost as well; I can't remember the number.  The demand forecast in the north has gone down, apparently significantly.  The TransCanada pipeline has been cancelled, and that has impact.

So all of these things have changed and my understanding is so now it's not 1.1 billion, it's now 200 million.

Is that right?  And if it's wrong, if you could just explain to me why it's wrong and what has happened relative to the 1.1 billion.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So Mr. Gill is itching to answer your question.

MR. GILL:  I've just had a chance to read it again while Jen was busy trying to answer.

So just reading this, my understanding from reading this is that once you considered the current estimate of cost for the east-west tie along with the substations, there is still a -- let's call it a gap, for lack of a better word, between that and the next alternative.

So the 200 million is the gap that would trigger; it's not the benefit total.  It's the difference between this and the next alternative.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But the gap used to be 1.1 billion and now it's 200 million -- or is that wrong?

MR. CASS:  Michael, I think the problem we're having here is these witnesses are not equipped to come here and speak for the IESO.  They're reading the same words you are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Well, perhaps I can get an undertaking to confirm with the IESO whether my understanding is correct or not.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we can look into the 2015 report and find out.  We can do that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Can I get an undertaking?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be undertaking JT1.28, for NextBridge to provide the IESO's response about net benefit differences in the 2015 and 2017 reports by the IESO.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.28:  NEXTBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE IESO'S RESPONSE ABOUT NET BENEFIT DIFFERENCES IN THE 2015 AND 2017 REPORTS BY THE IESO


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And the follow-up -- and this may be part of the same undertaking, what I was curious to understand what the impact -- you've been asked several times about the impact on the construction costs if you were to move from a 2020 to a 2021 in-service date, I believe.  I'm interested in the impact on the cost benefit analysis that is in the IESO report.  What actually happens to this -- now it looks like $200 million -- if it's delayed by one year.

There may not be a material impact; I don't know.  I think you're shifting a 30-year analysis, I believe it is, in one year.  But what's the impact of a one-year delay in the in-service date on that calculation?  I think it would be part of the same undertaking.

MR. CASS:  The concern, Michael, is you're essentially asking us to have the IESO update its work, and I don't know that that's within our control, or really evidence that we're able to lead to the extent that there would be follow-up questions on this, NextBridge witnesses would not be able to respond to them.  You're really asking for something that would come from the IESO, not so much from NextBridge.  We can give it our best efforts or something.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But it's a technical conference, so I'm just asking, and if you can't answer you can't answer.  I'm just trying to -- it sounds like then when it comes to evidence about the benefits of this project, that's not in NextBridge's hands?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it's not.  That's in the IESO.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  But I still have my undertaking, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do have an undertaking for the 2015 --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- to find the delta between the 2015 and 2017 reports.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So I guess they'll look at our exchange and make sure I understand it properly.

So thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. MAYERS:  Excuse me.  If I can just add, if you look at the next paragraph there, there is also a list of additional benefits, and the key would be the last line of that, which basically states these are added to the economic benefit and inform an important part of the rationale of this project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would love to be able to continue to ask you questions about those details.  For example, I was interested to understand if there is no transmission project of this nature from the end of 2020 to the end of 2021 what are the general economic benefits that are lost, including exactly what you're talking about, and if you want to answer that I'm more than happy to hear that.  I'm trying to get a quantification.

MR. CASS:  Again, Michael, I don't think that's a road that we should go down with the NextBridge witnesses.  Any information that they can take from this report they're reading the same words that you are.  To the extent that they get more information from the IESO, they're not able to follow up on that information with responses of their own.  It's not their information, so I don't see that it's going to be helpful.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Garner.  I am a consultant with the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition.  I only have a very few questions, and Mr. Russo, I think the first one is to you.  If you pull up CC number 11 and you look at Figure 9, the benchmarking base results that you have in that table.  And I wonder if you can help me understand -- you have that in front of you.

What am I supposed to read from the bottom line of that table, the 2017 cost per million per kilometre?  Am I supposed to take from that table that the new EWT in that column is more efficient than the AESO project too?  What are you demonstrating with that table?

MR. RUSSO:  So we're referring to Figure 9 on page 12 of the January report?

MR. GARNER:  That's right.

MR. RUSSO:  And I don't think I would use the term "more efficient".  I would describe it simply as the new EWT having a demonstrably materially lower cost per kilometre --


MR. GARNER:  But is that --


MR. RUSSO:  -- as projects.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry.  But is that -- is there some relevance to that without understanding more deeply which each one of these projects is?  Are you purporting that there's some relevance to that without knowing the details of those projects?

MR. RUSSO:  The relevance is the fact that all these other projects conform to a criteria set forth early in the report for similar voltage level lengths and terrain and in comparison to those similar projects the EWT does have a lower cost per kilometre.

MR. GARNER:  The reason I ask, of course, is there's quite a range in those numbers and they don't seem to have particularly any pattern.  And so maybe to help me, the gentlemen -- your engineers at the back, I noticed a couple things as -- one -- two of you are from Juno Beach, which makes you Canadian enough for me, and one of you -- the door is always open in these tough times, but my real question to you is all of you have worked on these type of systems quite a bit, it seems to me, when I looked at your CVs.  You have a lot of experience, mostly in the U.S., and I look at these numbers, and is it your experience as engineers in this field to use a dollar per mile concept in constructing and looking at different projects and say to yourself this project has kind of this dollar per mile, this one has this type of dollar per mile?

MR. GILL:  I think it's safe to say that that is a common tool.  I think to my knowledge that most in the industry do use a dollar per mile given certain characteristics around voltage and --


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Sort of a rule of thumb system that you can sort of look at?

MR. GILL:  And it's a ballpark, and you hardly, I think -- I wouldn't expect to see a number that creates the metric.  It's usually a range from here to here.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  Now, of course these numbers -- and I don't know what your experience is in -- because these numbers are in Canadian dollars per kilometre and of course not U.S. dollars per mile.  And one goes in one direction and the other one goes in the other direction, so in some sense they might somewhat even out.

Looking at these numbers, does this ring true to you in sort of that -- those type of figures that you've seen before?

MR. GILL:  Yes, I think once this report was issued I do recall a discussion with some of our estimators taking a look at it, and it was within the realm of what we would have expected.

MR. GARNER:  Is the 166 on the low side from what you've seen before?  It's certainly the lowest in this table, but is it -- have you seen numbers that low before?  And again, you know, I know they're not in U.S. dollars per mile, but in your experience?

MR. GILL:  Yeah, I think in the grand scheme of things 166 I wouldn't consider to be the lowest cost of a 230 kV transmission line, but given the terrain and climate and the conditions that we're in, it would be appropriate.  You could see a lesser number for somewhere a little less challenging and a less costly --


MR. GARNER:  All right.  Well, and for this one could you see a number, for instance, for this one that might be one half of $1.66 per kilometre?

MR. GILL:  I think that's extremely aggressive.

MR. GARNER:  You think it would be very rare to see a number that low, because it would be like in the 80 cents, I guess, per kilometre.  That would be a very unusual number to see?

MR. GILL:  Yeah, that does strike me as extremely low.

MR. GARNER:  Well, the reason I ask, of course, is that this project cost is now about double what it was at one time.  So the original project cost, it seems to me, although we don't have a figure, would have been based on a number that would be somewhat like one half of that number, and you're telling me is that would be extremely rare.  That's all I want to be clear about.

MR. GILL:  Yes, so to characterize that given the conditions, you know, in this case it's the in-service year and the length.  And so I think they need to be considered as part of the criteria that you would levellize those.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  My next question -- sorry, I just have to look it up -- is in relation to the development cost, and I'm looking at Staff 23, and then I'm going to look at Staff 24, just so you see them together.  And I'll go to Staff 24 first, and in Staff 24 you talk in the response to B -- it's page 2 of that response, if you have it.  I don't know why my B looks different than your B.

I'm looking at this one.  Why is that one different?  Oh, you're 24.  23, sorry, if you look at 23 first, and I can't read the number, but B on 23.  So in response to B there you'll see a number that says:

"NextBridge successfully transitioned from an average monthly spend of approximately 1.4 million to a low spend of 240,000."

And I took that number, and then I went to the next response, which is Staff 24, and if you could bring up the table.  So once you have that number of 240 per month, which by the way I kind of calculate roughly to a number of $3 million a year if you took it for every month.

If you go to the table that follows in Staff 24 and you go to the unforeseeable factors where you have that sort of -- the stuff that talks about the escalation.  I was trying to find out what -- where -- what of those items, where do I find where that savings is being made?  I believe it should be under the unforeseeable factors someplace.  Where is it coming from?  Roughly there's about a three million-dollar saving you're saying is happening, but there's also an increase because your delay -- and I was trying to look at that table and ask myself, how do I relate that 240 to the table?  Is there any way for you to tell me where that occurs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think what we were saying in IR number -- the previous IR is that the decrease in spending, I wouldn't call it a savings.  It was a -- we dropped our amount of spend, so during the -- to elongate our budget during the extended development period.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But aren't what you saying is that you were going -- you were spending 1.4 million and let's say this project got delayed, so I should see 1.4 million accumulate someplace in this table subtracted by the 240 that you're saving -- sorry, not the 240 you're saving.  The 140 subtracted by -- 1.4 million subtracted by, let's call it, 200,000 is about a million that you're kind of saving over what you would have.

But where do I see the table where the costs are coming in here?  Where am I looking?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe we're comparing the same type of thing.  So we -- I can start by saying that when we had the project delay, we re-estimated our budget to $40 million.  And so we wanted to ensure that the spend rate of 1.4 million was ramping up to submit our environmental assessment, our leave to construct, doing all of those activities.  And knowing that we had an extended development period and a different budget that would last us over those extra 36 months, we slowed down our spending in order to ensure that we stayed within the 40 million estimate.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  I'm just asking from which category in here were you slowing down the spending?  Because as I understand it anyway, table 5 is -- isn't it a table showing me some of the reasons that you have extra costs, and one of them is that there were unforeseeable factors including the delay, right.

So I should be able to see where that delay cost that you're talking about with the 240 is occurring in here, in this table, because that's one of the factors why you have a higher cost right now.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So project delay, the cost of project delay are not a function of us slowing down our budget.  Project delay costs were things like the change in the Canadian dollar, et cetera.   So it was not a way that we were doing our cash flow.

The project delay costs were based on the extended time that we were taking in doing the work.  And so if things like, as I mentioned in the MNO testimony, continuing to work with Indigenous communities.  So those extra 36 months of consultation activity, again we were spending during that time as well.

MR. GARNER:  So I'm not sure I'm getting anywhere with that, so I'm going to leave that and go to the one you just talked about, because I think that was my earlier question.

What I just heard when you were speaking to the counsel for MNO is these costs would be incurred in any event.  And therefore, when I looked at that table, table 5, and I see the First Nations and Métis participation, and I see a number of other like costs including line, 34 First Nations and Métis consultation -- there's a couple lines like that, two lines anyway -- I was surprised by what you just said, because those don't seem to be therefore costs of any sorts of delay.  You seemed to indicate those are costs that had to occur in any event; they were not dependent on delay.

And yet this table is really showing me the escalation of those costs.  So those costs don't have any relationship to delay.  They were costs you didn't properly estimate; is that what you're saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  So the discussion that we talked about over the extended development period, so I mentioned that some of the key activities that we continued to do would be First Nations and Métis participation and consultation over those extra 35 months.

If we had not had the project delay, we still would have been consulting and having conversations with the Métis Nation of Ontario, as well as participation discussions.  However, we wouldn't have been spending over that extra 36 months, so the extra time -- we didn't stop and start.  We continued to do these activities.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  But when I look at this table, which is a table that explains, I believe -- you can correct me.  It explains the escalation between the original estimate and the one that now exists, right?

So the two lines that speak to Métis and First Nations events in that table, those aren't items that are related to any sorts of delays, the reason, as I understand what you're saying.

Therefore, it follows that they are items when you made your first estimate, you didn't have budgeted into your first estimate because they are now showing up as part of the reason for the increase.  So that's correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, sorry.  Firstly, the First Nations and Métis participation was not included in our designation filing.

MR. GARNER:  That's what I'm asking.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So that was not included in our designation filing.  First Nations and Métis consultation was.  And so First Nations and Métis consultation was budgeted for the 18-month development period and then when it got extended an extra 35 months, we continued to spend on First Nations and Métis consultation over those 35 months.

MR. GARNER:  That sounds then there were incremental costs with the consultation which, in essence, were caused by the delay.  That's what it sounds like you're saying.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, incremental costs of consultation caused by the delay.

MR. GARNER:  Why would that be -- why would the delay in and of itself cause you costs for consultation, extra costs for consultation?

Being a simplistic approach, I'd say you consulted, it finished, and then the project got delayed.  Why is it the delay itself cause more cost in consultation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Consultation is ongoing discussions with First Nations and Métis communities about the project, and as the project continued to develop over that period of time, we continued to have conversations with First Nations and Métis communities informing them the project, the environmental assessment, all the activities that we were doing over that 35 months.  So we had to continue to have those discussions.

MR. GARNER:  Do any of these consultation costs include payment to the First Nations and/or MNO?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, there is capacity funding in those costs.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I'll move along to a whole different area right now, and it is -- I think if you pull up Hydro One's Interrogatory No. 7, I believe this is where Hydro One is asking a question about the variances that occur based on your current estimate using the AACE categories, outcomes.

And they're basically, I think, asking you based on class 2 what's your variance.  And they're saying could the variance be this large.  As I understand those classifications accurately put down what I'll call the high and the low of those variances.

But as I understand the AACE protocols, there also is areas around definition of project, so that one actually can squeeze those because there actually is a lower one.  You can actually get to minus 5 and plus 5 within that same designation.  And one actually goes through kind of a stepwise process, as I understand it, the definition and then using those estimates.

So I guess what I'm asking is are you still at that stage where you basically have, under those categories, only gotten yourself to that range you're suggesting in this interrogatory?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that question to Mr. Gill.

MR. GILL:  Yes, we still consider this to be a class 2.  You're correct in your explanation of the ranges and we do see this to be within that range and the scope definition, albeit on the engineering side, we're pretty well advanced.  We do have some concerns with regards to some permitting that's still outstanding that may have permit conditions of approval that may shift some scope a little bit, and those are still what keeps us from pushing the criteria for the design or scope definition much higher.  And that's kind of where we're -- one of the primary factors of keeping it in the class 2 at this point.

MR. GARNER:  Yes, I understand why it's a class 2, Mr. Gill.  But I guess what I'm misunderstanding perhaps is this is -- I thought within class 2, one has these project maturity definitions that allowed you to, within that class, squeeze the range down basically as you move forward.

So the class itself has a very broad range.  But one actually goes through -- within that class, as they define maturity of project, they squeeze down that range as they go on.  So one doesn't stay within that range; they jump to the next one.  As an engineering approach, one kind of squeezes within that range to understand how much uncertainty I'd have within that range.

So I was asking more -- I was asking that question.  Why haven't you at this stage, with the project maturity within class 2, have a narrower band of range of uncertainty.  What's precluding that?  You're still suggesting in this you have the widest band of uncertainty within the cost estimate.

MR. GILL:  I would say another way of putting it is that we have not sub characterized it within a class 2.  And I do agree that the way presented it and the way Hydro One's 7 interrogatory was stated, it was to the extreme case.  We don't believe it to be on that end of the scale, if that's your question.  But we have not subcharacterized it within...

MR. GARNER:  That is my question.  And I guess then the follow-up if you don't is, what would it be.  And you even suggest in the next answer to that on the high side you believe you've got already the lump-sum item there, construction contract, you've already sort of mitigated some of your high side on that.  Right?  That is what you're suggesting.

So I'm asking you, can you provide the Board and us with a narrower range that you are at right now rather than simply presenting what I call the Class 2's largest range and saying, well, that's the class, and we do understand that's the class.

MR. GILL:  Okay.  Can you give me a second, please.

I'm sorry, can you repeat the last part of that question?  I know where you are.  I just needed to make sure I clearly understand what I'm --


MR. GARNER:  It may not be exactly right, but what I was asking was, given your response to that question where, for example, you've already indicated you'd be able to mitigate the high side of the Class 2 broad range, and I was suggesting to you Class 2 has actually a smaller range, minus 5 to plus 5 at its lowest end, are you not in a position to provide the Board with a narrower band in that classification of your costs, risks, rather than the extreme ranges?  And if so, what would that be?

MR. GILL:  My hesitation is that some of the activities that would help us to narrow that down, and as you rightly stated, the effort as you go on is to kind of squeeze some of those broader bands into narrower bands and to get that to the lower end of the scale.  Some of the main drivers for that are just out of reach in terms of time.

So for example, I mentioned some of the permitting.  We also have lot of major procurement materials that are still ahead of us that we have to competitively source, and there is concern that there may be some fluctuation within that pricing.

Those two major hurdles will allow us to, once they're behind us, to narrow that scope down even further.  But I think at this time just in generally I think we're on the lower end of that class rating, but I don't know we've self-characterized it, and I don't know that we could today, because the main drivers are still out in schedule a bit with regards to getting those things wrapped up.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I don't want to put you on the spot, and I wonder if you could do this.  Could you make efforts to review that and with best estimates under an undertaking provide an update to this interrogatory per item C to indicate what the band might be now, and perhaps I would also way when you expect Class 1 estimates to be ascertained.

And it may be that the response to that undertaking will be what you've just told me, which is I can't do any better than what this response is, but I do realize you're sitting here and trying to go through all of that.  But the response itself seems to indicate to me you have something that's a little bit different than the widest, broadest range.


So I'm wondering if you could have an undertaking to review that, review whether you still believe that you are only able to provide a Class 2 cost estimate within the broadband of 20 to minus 20, and if you're able to refine it, what it is; and then the second part of that undertaking would be, is to provide us with an estimate of when you expect to be in the position to have a Class 1 estimate of the project.

MR. GILL:  We can do that.

MR. GARNER:  When they would be in the position to have a Class 1 estimate of the project, sorry.

MR. GILL:  We can do that.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be Undertaking JT1.29.  It's a two-part request for undertaking to update the response to Hydro One's Interrogatory No. 7, item C, the first part being to provide the narrow range of cost estimates for Class 2, and then the second part of this undertaking to provide the timeline when you would be able to provide Class 1 estimates.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.29:  TO UPDATE THE RESPONSE TO HYDRO ONE'S INTERROGATORY NO. 7, ITEM C (1) TO PROVIDE THE NARROW RANGE OF COST ESTIMATES FOR CLASS 2; (2) TO PROVIDE THE TIMELINE WHEN YOU WOULD BE ABLE TO PROVIDE CLASS 1 ESTIMATES.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And those are all my questions.  Thank you, panel, for your answers.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps now would be a good time for the afternoon break, and we'll come back at 3:25.
--- Recess taken at 3:09 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.


MR. MURRAY:  We're going to get going.  Again the last questioner is Hydro One.  So the floor is yours, Mr. Warren.
Questions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Panel, can we start with the exchanges with Ms. Strachan, since they're reasonably fresh in our minds.

Ms. Strachan said that there was an information sharing agreement; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And as I understood your answers, you had a confidentiality provision in it; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me first -- first of all, will you undertake to provide a copy of that agreement?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The agreement -- I would check with my attorneys, but the agreement would be confidential.

MR. CASS:  No, we're not undertaking to provide that, Bob.

MR. WARREN:  Even under the provisions of the Board's rules of confidentiality?

MR. CASS:  I don't believe anyone from your client has signed a confidentiality undertaking.

MR. WARREN:  Let's assume we do, Fred.  Let's not play cute about it; let's assume we do.  Would you file it under the terms of the Board's rules on confidentiality?

MR. CASS:  I would have to look at it and consider that.  I haven't seen it.

MR. WARREN:  I presume, witnesses, that there was -- first of all, who asked for the confidentiality provision?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was a mutually agreed upon agreement between NextBridge and the MNO.

MR. WARREN:  And you were paying them for what?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those agreements that she was referring to was for capacity funding to take a look at our environmental assessment and for consultation.

MR. WARREN:  Who is in fact -- were the provisions such that you were paying for their environmental assessment work?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The capacity funding that was provided to them was for them to review our environmental assessment and to provide TEK data.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, to provide what?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, traditional ecological knowledge data.

MR. WARREN:  So part of it was your environmental assessment, to which they added their component of it, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Am I correct in understanding that –-sorry.  And you were getting what in return for this?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As part of our delegated duty to consult, the Crown delegated us consultation interactions with the Métis Nation of Ontario and the communities that are contained within.

MR. WARREN:  And the costs in relation to this confidential agreement are part of the development costs that you're going to seek to recover from ratepayers' is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  So an agreement which ratepayers can't see, you're going to ask them to pay for.  Have I got that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The contents of the agreement and what was paid for by NextBridge are confidential.  Fred said he would look at it, but the actual costs are in our development budget, so those are public.

MR. WARREN:  But the contents of the agreement which your counsel has indicated he is not willing to provide, those contents of the agreement are going to be --notwithstanding the fact that they're secret, you're going to ask ratepayers to pay for them.  Have I got that right, witness?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand it, the information that the Métis Nation provided to you for the environmental assessment was, to use your term, rolled up and made anonymous and included in the EA filings with the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change, is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Did you have to obtain the consent of the MNO in order to do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was part of our agreement, yes.

MR. WARREN:  They provided their consent to your including it in the filing with the MOECC, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The rolled up information?  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Can I get a copy of the consent that was asked for and provided?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Warren, all of us in this room Know that your client has a dual interest in the matters that are under consideration here.  Today's purpose is to explore NextBridge's proposal to build the east-west tie line.  Your client has a competing proposal to do the same thing.

I understand how these questions may relate to things that your client would like to get in relation to its competing proposal, but I don't see how they're relevant to the reasons we're here today.

MR. WARREN:  One of the reasons we're -- I don't want to debate with you, Mr. Cass.  But one of the reasons we're here is to assess and ask questions about the development costs, so included in the development costs, I'm now given to understand, is information that will be kept from the people who are supposed to pay the development cost.  And that strikes me as a legitimate question, regardless of my client's particular interest.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Warren, I didn't hear any of the intervenors representing ratepayer groups asking for this.  I hear Hydro One asking for this under the supposition that people who are going to have to pay for it should see it.

But it is Hydro One asking for it and Hydro One, as I've just said, seems to have dual interests and I don't believe they're appropriately separated in relation to what the questions are for today.

MR. WARREN:  We don't need to argue about it, Mr. Cass.  It's your notion of this separation which I don't accept, but let's move on.

Can you turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1, panel?  For each of the dates that are listed in the D part of the question, reports -- were there reports prepared for internal consideration for each of those dates, progress reports, some reports of some kind?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  I believe that the dates that were chosen here were basically the OEB looking at quarterly, quarterly dates.  I don't know -- the dates were determined by the OEB, not anything that NextBridge put forth.

MR. WARREN:  If they are -- let's take your answer is that these dates correspond to dates on which reports were going to be provided to the OEB.  Am I right in assuming that for the preparation of the reports to the OEB, there were internal reports within NextBridge; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, for the information for the development period, correct.

MR. WARREN:  Were those reports provided to the NextBridge board of directors?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they were.

MR. WARREN:  Can we get an undertaking to provide copies of the internal reports on which the OEB reports were based?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, one moment.  If I understand correctly, you're asking for what was presented to the board by way of cost estimates on these dates?

MR. WARREN:  I'm asking for what was presented to NextBridge's board --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  -- that was the basis for the reports to the Ontario Energy Board.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those are detailed cost curves that have project costs in them.  I would have to talk with my attorney about confidentiality, but I believe we could look into providing you with that information.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, this is a question which is, in some a sense, a follow-up to a question asked by Board Staff.

There is a reference in the answer to detailed construction.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Is there going to be an undertaking on this request?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, it's an undertaking to examine whether or not you can produce the reports that were prepared for the board of directors that gave rise to the quarterly reports to the Ontario Energy Board.  Have I stated it fairly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's my understanding.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's JT1.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.30:  TO EXAMINE WHETHER OR NOT NEXTBrIDGE CAN PRODUCE THE REPORTS THAT WERE PREPARED FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS THAT GAVE RISE TO THE QUARTERLY REPORTS TO THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD


MR. WARREN:  I apologize for interrupting you, but the exchange you had with Board Staff counsel earlier dealt with this question of detailed construction cost estimates.

Were any construction cost estimates included in the reports to the board on the dates in relation to the dates that are listed in D?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If you scroll down to our response, you can see that our detailed -- our construction cost estimates were provided to the board on April 30th and on June 30th of 2017.

MR. WARREN:  But the -- am I right, though, that for the other dates the number that was provided for construction costs was $397 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You are correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I just want to deal with two instances in the development period.  One is the OPA's determination that there would be a delay in the construction of the east-west tie, and as I understand it
-- I don't think you need to turn it up -- it's in response to Board Staff interrogatory 23 or 24 -- there is a $57 million construction cost associated with that delay, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's in the interrogatory, yes.

MR. WARREN:  And did you at the time that the OPA advised of the delay, did you report to the NextBridge board of directors that there would be a $57 million additional construction cost as a result of that delay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  And so when NextBridge reforecast its construction costs -- and you can see April 30th -- what they did was to explain the increases.  They then used that construction cost estimate and parsed it out into certain buckets, including the cost of the delay.

MR. WARREN:  But at the time -- my question is related to the time when the OPA said there would be a delay.  At that time, around that time, did you report to the NextBridge board of directors that there would be a 57 -- or estimated $57 million increase in construction costs as a result of that delay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, because we did not know that it would be $57 million.

MR. WARREN:  Did you report to them that there was likely to be any increase in construction costs as a result of the delay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't recall what was reported to the board at the time, but we did not reforecast our construction cost.

MR. WARREN:  And in like fashion, when it was -- I believe you said it was early 2015 -- correct me if I'm wrong -- 2015 when your discussions with Parks Canada, you finally resolved that you could not get the route through the park.  Is that -- have I got the date roughly correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, roughly.

MR. WARREN:  And as a result of not getting that route there would be an increase in, among others things, the construction cost, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And did you report to your board of directors in the early part of 2015 the likelihood or the certainty, I guess, that construction costs would increase as a result of not being able to go through the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So being not able to go through the park increased the route around however many kilometres, I believe about 50 kilometres, and so ergo it would be a given that it would increase the cost of construction, because the length of the line increased.  But was there a specific instance where we outlined this to the board?  I don't recall.

MR. WARREN:  You don't recall.  It's possible that you may have done so, but you just don't recall; is that correct?  Is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's fair, I believe.  But I don't believe -- we have not -- I think along these lines of questioning we have not re-estimated the construction costs as set out in this IR until April the 30th.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 12.  This is an interrogatory which deals with, roughly speaking, with the question of crossing my client's lines, and includes a discussion of moving what are referred to as the relocation of the TM1 lines.

Now, there have been questions asked of you about this.  Am I correct in understanding that there is a disagreement between you and my client as to whether or not the lines needs to be -- the TM1 lines need to be relocated?  You simply disagree; fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We are currently waiting for information to come back from Hydro One.  We assume it will come back in June, and at that time I could confirm if there was a disagreement or not.

MR. WARREN:  Can we assume just for the sake of discussion that there is a disagreement?  What are the implications of that disagreement for your EA?  Do you know?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm not --


MR. WARREN:  Are there environmental assessment implications to the relocation of the TM1 lines?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I assume then what you're asking is if the T1M line was moved then would our environmental assessment have to be amended?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And so we've taken a large footprint on the project when we talk about our environmental assessment.  And I can't tell without investigating where the T1M line is and the field studies and investigations that we've done that were part of our environmental assessment to determine if moving of the T1M line would have an impact on our environmental assessment.

MR. WARREN:  Is that something that you can determine if I asked you for an undertaking to determine that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I could investigate that, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Could we have an undertaking on that, please?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be JT1.31, for NextBridge to provide a response if there would be need to amend the environmental assessment if the TM1 line is to be relocated.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.31:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE IF THERE WOULD BE NEED TO AMEND THE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT IF THE TM1 LINE IS TO BE RELOCATED.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

And just as a follow-up to that, if you could turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No.43.  If it turns out that there are environmental assessment implications from moving the TM1 line and you need to amend your environmental assessment, am I correct in assuming that there is a risk of delay in the ultimate outcome of the environmental assessment?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't answer that question, because I don't know the extent of what is already contained in our environmental assessment and if that movement could be accommodated.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Could I ask you to turn to Board Staff interrogatory 15.  Sorry, witness.  This Staff interrogatory asked you to provide a detailed explanation as to the reasons for the increased cost estimates in a number of categories.  And you have provided your answers to those.

For each of those categories can you advise me the date on which the likelihood of the increase in cost came to your attention?  Is that possible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as I mentioned before, we did not re-estimate our construction costs, and these items that were part of our re-estimation process of our construction costs were not done until April of 2017.

MR. WARREN:  Staff interrogatory 16, the next interrogatory, deals with the, among other things, actual construction costs through December 2017.  And I'm -- I will reveal my profound ignorance when I ask this question, but in what way can NextBridge engage in construction costs before it receives leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our -- when we filed our leave to construct last July 2017, it's my understanding that by OEB standards our development period has ended, and so we are now really in theory in kind of a shoulder period before construction begins.  However, that's project-speak, but in a regulatory environment we would now be in what is considered a construction period, because we have filed for our leave to construct.

MR. WARREN:  So costs in that category, you're just taking a risk that you'll get your leave to construct; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, to move the project ahead we are continuing to spend so that we can meet the 2020 in-service date.

MR. WARREN:  You answered a question to one of the counsel earlier about what's contained in First Nations and Métis participation of First Nations and Métis consultation.

Can you tell me, panel, how many agreements NextBridge a has entered into with Métis and First Nations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In both participation and consultation categories?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I cannot answer that off the top of my head.

MR. WARREN:  Can you give me an undertaking to provide not just the names, but -- sorry, not just the number, but the names of the Métis and First Nations groups you've entered into agreements with?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe I can give you the number, because even going into agreements, some of those First Nations may not want their names to be public that they've entered into agreements with NextBridge.  I would have to check with them.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Perhaps we can wrap this -- before we give an undertaking, we can wrap this into this.  All the agreements you've entered into with First Nations and Métis organizations, do they contain confidentiality provisions?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they do.

MR. WARREN:  And do they contain provisions which would preclude the Métis and/or First Nations from not only negotiating with, but talking to any other person willing to build an east-west tie?  Are there exclusivity provisions in each of those agreements?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I think there are different types of agreements that you are referring to.  Some of them are consultation agreements, some of them are participation agreements.  Are you asking about a certain type of agreement?

MR. WARREN:  Let's deal with participation agreements. Do each of those participation agreements contain exclusivity provisions?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would like to discuss with my attorney what I could disclose about the content of those agreements.

MR. WARREN:  You can't even tell us whether or not there are exclusivity provisions, let alone what the provisions are?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The agreements are between NextBridge and the Indigenous communities, and to disclose any parts of those agreements without determining if that's possible or not seems inappropriate.

MR. WARREN:  With respect to -- sorry, that's for the participation agreements.  For the consultation agreements, are there exclusivity provisions in those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That would be my same answer.

MR. WARREN:  I'm going to ask for an undertaking that all of those agreements be filed, whether in confidence or otherwise.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be undertaking JT1 --


MR. CASS:  We're not giving that undertaking.  I understand that NextBridge may consult with the First Nations and Métis communities, and determine what can be done and respond accordingly.  But there is no undertaking being given at this time to produce agreements.

MR. WARREN:  Is there an undertaking to consult and to let us know what the outcome of the consultation is, or is that secret, too?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, the agreements ...

MR. WARREN:  I'm asking your counsel.  Is there an undertaking to consult and let us know the outcome of the consultation?

MR. CASS:  There is an undertaking that we will take this away and consider it, give you a response, Bob.  That's the undertaking.

MR. WARREN:  Can we give that undertaking a number, please?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That was JT1.32.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.32:  TO CONFER WITH FIRST NATIONS AND METIS COMMUNITIES AND DETERMINE WHAT CAN BE DONE, AND TO RESPOND ACCORDINGLY


MR. WARREN:  Board Staff interrogatory 21; as I understand it, what Board Staff interrogatory 21 lists are expenditures in various categories that NextBridge was enable to forecast at the time of the designation.  Have I got that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And one of the categories of this -- I'm looking at category 25, I believe it is, is capacity funding agreements of, roughly speaking, half a million dollars.  That was a cost that was not -- you couldn't have foreseen that at all.  Do I understand that correctly, or just the amount that you couldn't foresee?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was the amount.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  My last question on that table is what does it mean by request of regulator?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in the far right column, the regulator here would be the ministry that would be referred to in the column -- for example, in 20, the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry and the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change.

They requested -- they requested an expanded alternates assessment.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Board Staff 29 -- sorry, I apologize.  It's Board Staff 24.  Am I right in understanding -- I look at this unbudgeted at designation
-- that you didn't budget for carrying charges during the development phase.  Is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Why is that, panel?  I don't know anything about anything, but it strikes me that carrying charges would be something one would ordinarily include in a forecast.  Is that not fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would pass that question to you, Mr. Boykin, about our designation procedure.

MR. BOYKIN:  We will provide an undertaking to respond to that question.

MR. WARREN:  I beg your pardon?

MR. BOYKIN:  We'll respond via undertaking as to why it was not included in the designation amount.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That would be undertaking JT1.33.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.33:  TO EXPLAIN WHY CARRYING CHARGES WERE NOT INCLUDED IN THE DESIGNATION AMOUNT


MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 30?  This is a question about the forecast O&M, and I just want to make sure I've got the numbers right.  The preamble in the Board Staff's interrogatory was that the original O&M cost was 4.4 million.  Board Staff then said the present estimate is closer to 7.4, and then there is a third number in A, which is -- the estimate is 4.7 million.  Is 4.7 million the correct number?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me -- and perhaps you can do this by way of undertaking -- what all is included in your O&M forecast?  What are the components of it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that on to you, Mr. Mayers.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, there's three components.  As I mentioned earlier, there's regulatory, there's compliance, and then there's the O&M portion of it.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, regulatory compliance?  I apologize.  I was writing it faster --


MR. MAYERS:  Regulatory, compliance and O&M.  So the OM&A.

MR. WARREN:  Is it possible for you in an undertaking to provide the breakdown of the components of each of those three?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, I believe we can.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That will be an undertaking JT1.34, to provide the breakdown of three categories of the 4.7 million dollar figure, which was provided in response to IR 30 by Board Staff.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.34:  TO PROVIDE THE BREAKDOWN OF THREE CATEGORIES OF THE 4.7 MILLION DOLLAR FIGURE PROVIDED IN RESPONSE TO IR STAFF 30

MR. WARREN:  Board Staff Interrogatory No.31 refers to a maintenance facility.  Can you tell me where that maintenance facility will be, and what it will consist of?

MR. MAYERS:  I'm sorry, I can't hear you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  You're too far from the microphone; we can't hear you.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  Board Staff interrogatory 31 refers to a maintenance facility.  Can you tell me where the maintenance facility will be located, and what it will consist of?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Mayers?

MR. MAYERS:  The maintenance facility will be located in Thunder Bay.  Right now, to the best of my knowledge, it will be an office.  There will be an office set up for two individuals and a determination will be made as to whether we maintain spare parts at that location.

But in general, it's just going to be an office and as far as when we're going to be doing this, it will be sometime in the next year.

MR. WARREN:  In CCC Interrogatory No. 6, there is a reference in the response, the second full paragraph, and I quote:
"The IESO was consulted in response to this interrogatory and indicated the following to NextBridge."

Can you provide us, please, by way of undertaking with copies of what you asked the IESO to say and their response in full, please?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  That's the Undertaking JT1.35.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.35:  TO PROVIDE COPIES OF WHAT NEXTBRIDGE ASKED THE IESO TO SAY AND THEIR RESPONSE IN FULL.

MR. WARREN:  SEC Interrogatory No. 6.  On the table you provide a leave-to-construct number, a designation application, the designation application nominal, and then a variance.

Can you tell me for each of those categories the dates on which you became aware of the variance?  Is that possible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's a difficult ask.  So the -- each of these activities have a project flow.  There are no starts and stops to the activities.  So for example, I could use the environmental assessment.  We're continuing to -- continuing to work on the scope of the environmental assessment, and there was no time where it was deemed that those activities were starting and stopping.

And so to consider putting them into buckets and dates on those, that's not possible.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I appreciate that.

Can you tell me this:  With respect to these variances, were these variances as they moved along the continuum as you've just indicated you'd become aware of these variances over time as part of the ordinary process, as I understand it, were they reported to the NextBridge board of directors as they occurred?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So variations in our cash spend, our monthly spend curve, were reported to the board on a monthly basis.

MR. WARREN:  And were those measured against your internal risk matrix --


MS. TIDMARSH:  No, they were not.

MR. WARREN:  -- when your colleagues referred to an internal risk matrix, that's based on your experience, not one of the conventional ones.

[Multiple speakers]


MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  The reports on a monthly basis, were they measured against -- what were they measured against when you reported them to your board?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The variation in cost was measured against our monthly budgets from each of the different disciplines.  And so as we have monthly -- we have spend curves, and so the variances between what we projected to spend that month and what we spent, those variances were reported to our board of directors.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Thank you, witness.

My next question is in relation to ?procedural order number 3, and in procedural order number 3 the Board asks you, says, and I quote:

"The OEB also finds the detail provided in Exhibit C1 is insufficient for the OEB to assess project risk related to the schedule.  The Board requires NextBridge to file a more detailed project schedule that includes the key activities, key milestones, critical path for the project, and the amount of schedule contingency (detailed project schedule)."

And I take it that what was provided is a detailed project schedule in response to OEB procedural order number 3, is this document here?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it is.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I don't see on that document the amount of schedule contingency.  Am I missing something on it?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if we can bring that up, I believe we mentioned that the schedule contingency is one month.  And it's in a footnote, I believe.

MR. WARREN:  My copy doesn't have a footnote, at least on this chart.  So for the entire thing the contingency is one month; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, you can see it on the screen now, "scheduled contingency for project substantial completion one month", footnote 2.

MR. WARREN:  Now, is this project schedule, is this the final -- will there be a level 4, for example, project schedule, more detailed information?  Won't the long list be amended in some way to create a different one?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm not sure what you mean, "level 4".

MR. WARREN:  Well, will there be another one that follows on this?  Will this be amended from time to time to indicate what the project schedule is, what the contingencies are, and so on, so forth?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do have -- are ongoing scheduling meetings in which we update the schedule based on any changes.

MR. WARREN:  Has this document, the one that I'm holding -- response to procedural order number 3, has it been amended?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is the schedule as of the date of the filing.

MR. WARREN:  Has it been amended?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In the past four days, no.

MR. WARREN:  When do you expect it to be amended again?

 MS. TIDMARSH:  If there are any changes to the schedule.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I want to ask some questions which I don't -- I'm confident are not confidential about your EPC contract.  Am I right in my understanding that of the 737 million of the total estimated project cost, the general contractor scope of work represents approximately 60 percent?  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Approximately, yes.  I'll pass this line of questioning over to Mr. Gill.

MR. GILL:  Yes, approximately 60 percent is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And that 60 percent is subject to -- is a fixed-price arrangement; is that correct?

MR. GILL:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Who was responsible for the balance of the 40 percent?

MR. GILL:  The remaining 40 percent consists of both an engineering and construction component and all the other project costs.

MR. WARREN:  And the other 40 percent is not subject to a fixed-price arrangement?

MR. GILL:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  So it could vary up or down; correct?

MR. GILL:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And what controls are there, if any, governing, for example, material increases in that 40 percent figure?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can take this back over.  So our project controls we've mentioned earlier are variance analysis.  We also have each one of the disciplines, each one of those team leads that are part of making up the 40 percent every time there is a cost -- a purchase order or a contract that is signed that's monitored and it goes through our project management office, and so we have checks and balances on those pricing -- on that pricing.

MR. WARREN:  And my question was, are there provisions for, for example, insurance or bonds or any of that kind of insurance, that kind of measures of insurance if you exceed the 40 percent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, insurance -- I missed part of that question.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry.  Is there a performance bond or anything like that in place that would cover the 40 percent that's not subject to fixed price?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Briefly with respect to the Charles River report, I believe you said that that was prepared in January 2018 for regulatory purposes.  Have I got that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Turn to -- return, sorry, to Board Staff 29.  This is a list of risk items, one that was provided in the designation application.  Is there a different set of risk items for the construction phase?

MS. TIDMARSH:  My colleague mentioned earlier that there will be a risk matrix that is put together for the construction phase.

MR. WARREN:  Does that risk matrix exist at the moment?

 MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe we mentioned earlier it does not, no.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I apologize to you, panel, if I've forgotten some of the things that --


MR. TIDMARSH:  That's okay.

MR. WARREN:  -- have been asked before.  I'm old and have a fragile memory.

With respect to the agreement with Valard, is there a performance bond for labour and materials, and that sort of thing with them?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Mr. Gill?

MR. GILL:  Yes, the EPC contract does have security provisions.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  There's a reference in Board Staff interrogatory 7, attachment 3, to move around events.  Can you tell me what move around events are?

MR. GILL:  The move around event is -- in some instances in the industry, we know it as a skip.  But if you have a potential portion of the work that, for whatever reason, your contractor can't execute efficiently on, it's either held up with a permit or we’ve got, for example, maybe a land easement that's still outstanding, the move around event is a provision that allows the contractor some cost relief to avoid that immediate section of work, move the crews to other areas that they can work, and bring them back.  It's a cost relief, not a schedule relief mechanism.

MR. WARREN:  Let me see if I understand that.  There's some development which precludes the contractor from doing the work, which is not the contractor's fault.  And this provision allows them to, for example, move their crews to do something else?

MR. GILL:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  And to do so without a penalty; is that correct?

MR. GILL:  To do so without a cost penalty.

MR. WARREN:  Without cost penalty.  And is there a time limit on a move around event?

MR. GILL:  It's not a time limit per se.  For each of these segments, there is a limit of five that have been anticipated within their schedule.  So up to five move-around events, they're given cost relief for that move around event.  They're not given any schedule relief.

Should you have six or more events in any one segment, then the contractor is entitled to demonstrate some schedule relief that would be negotiated and worked out.

MR. WARREN:  That is relief from delays, is that right?

MR. GILL:  Correct.

MR. WARREN:  Some technical questions on the EA process.  As I understand it, panel, from questions that have been asked before, the EA process is ongoing and you haven't received a decision from the ministry; correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Have you received a notice of completion from the ministry?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we have not.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Finally, with respect to the EPC contract, are you prepared to provide Exhibit A, which is the scope of work?

MR. GILL:  No, we're not.  That has -- counsel can help me articulate, but that has been covered under confidentiality.

MR. WARREN:  The project schedule, which is Exhibit C, same answer?

MR. GILL:  Same answer.

MR. WARREN:  Section 2.4.2 refers to a latest full notice to proceed.  What is that date?  Sorry, what is the date?

MR. GILL:  I'm sorry.  Your question is what does that mean, or what is the date?

MR. WARREN:  What is the date?

MR. GILL:  The date would be a part of Schedule C 1, which is confidential.

MR. WARREN:  Section 4.1.1 provides, I take it, the contract price.  Is that publicly available information?

MR. GILL:  No, it is not.

MR. WARREN:  We just dealt with the move forward.  The owner furnished equipment referred to in Exhibit N, what is it?

MR. GILL:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear all the question.

MR. WARREN:   There’s a reference in Exhibit N to an owner furnished equipment; what is that?

MR. GILL:  That the owner furnished equipment contemplated is basically the structures, the conductor, OPW, OSGW, the primary materials that we generally provide and procure separately.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.  Can we just take a few minutes?  I want to consult with my client about anything I may have missed.

Three follow-upon questions, panel.  If you could turn up Board Staff interrogatory 16, my question in that is -- it's back to something we discussed a moment ago, which is the -- as I understand it, you have your risk matrix, my term, for construction will include a forecast cost component, and then each month you will report on whether or not you've met that, is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I’ll pass that to Mr. Gill and Mr. Mayers.

MR. GILL:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And if I look at Board Staff 16, the answer to question B, part B, is NextBridge does not have monthly or quarterly construction cost estimates including major components.

I'm not sure how I square that answer with what you've just described as your risk matrix.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Could you repeat the question, and which exhibit or which IR you're looking at?

MR. WARREN:  It’s Board Staff interrogatory 16, page 2 of 2, part B.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, one moment.  Mr. Gill can answer this question.

MR. GILL:  Sorry, counsel, I took a minute to read the context.  Could you rephrase the actual question?

MR. WARREN:  It's tiresome of you to ask me to remember what it is I asked you.

My question -- I apologize.  Part B of the answer is: "NextBridge does not have monthly or quarterly construction cost estimates including major components."


My question is, in the absence of that, how can you develop the risk matrix which has -- on which you report monthly on variances and costs?

MR. GILL:  I think the context here with regards to the monthly reporting that we do through our project controls, particularly relative to the EPC contractor's performance and progress, it really relates to reporting against their progress and those costs.

I think here, broadly speaking, the construction cost estimates that go beyond the contractor are not revisited on a monthly basis.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize, but I don't understand that.  Construction costs that go beyond the contractor?  What does that mean?

MR. GILL:  Within what's been defined here as construction period or construction costs are more than just the contractor's costs.  And the monthly reporting that we have with our project controls really monitors the contractor's cost, and there is a re-estimating if there's a reforecast within those.

But the re-estimating effort doesn't go more broadly to all construction costs, including things that would be a NextBridge cost, or anything along the lines of environmental.  That reporting is specifically done against the EPC contractor's scope and their contract.

MR. WARREN:  So am I right in understanding that the risk matrix deals only with the EPC contract and not the other costs?  Is that -- have I understood your answer correctly?

MR. GILL:  To the extent the risk matrix does have a component that is an item, for example, of risk that is not within the contractor's scope, that risk would be estimated, but again, it's not a re-estimating of the overall project cost, it's whatever that risk identified to be would have been assessed for costs.

MR. WARREN:  Why would you not include all of the costs, construction costs, in the risk matrix?  Why include only some of them?

MR. GILL:  Well, frankly, it's a large undertaking to do all of the costs and on a monthly basis.  It's more of an exception reporting for those things that have been deemed to have changed.

MR. WARREN:  Question briefly for Charles River and Associates.  In your analysis, which is attached to CCC number 11, as I understand it, did you use Alberta labour rates for that?

MR. RUSSO:  So you are referring, sir, to the January report?

MR. WARREN:  January report, yeah.  That's right.

MR. RUSSO:  So the data from Alberta were taken from the published website by the Alberta ESO.  And the costs reflect those costs reported by the ESO which should include Alberta labour rates.

MR. WARREN:  Did you do any comparison with Ontario labour rates?

MR. RUSSO:  We did not do any explicit comparison of that Alberta versus Ontario labour rates.

MR. WARREN:  Did you do an implicit comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  Pardon?

MR. WARREN:  Did you do an implicit comparison?

MR. RUSSO:  Well, to the extent that those data provided by the Alberta ESO do include Alberta labour, they are taken into account.  I would not consider that, however, to be an explicit comparison performed by us.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. MURRAY:  Before we conclude I would just like to check.  I don't think anyone else has any more questions, and if so, the technical conference is finished.
Procedural Matters:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I just ask a question when the expect -- maybe this is in the PO and I didn't realize.  When the expectation on the response to the undertakings will be provided?

MR. CASS:  At this point I'm not sure we know that, Mark.  There's quite a number.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, it would be helpful at least if you could advise by e-mail when you have a sense of when --


MR. CASS:  When we think --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- for planning purposes.

MR. CASS:  You're thinking in relation to the ultimate hearing date here or is there some other date you're concerned about?  Yeah.  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So at least we know.  It would be helpful to know, and it will be helpful to just know when.  I mean, obviously the sooner the better.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess we're concluded.
--- Whereupon the conference concluded at 4:23 p.m.
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